



Iron (Hades Abyss MC 11)

A Dixie Reapers Bad Boys Romance Harley Wylde

All rights reserved. Copyright ©2023 Harley Wylde

BIN: 010981-03572 Formats Available: Adobe PDF, Epub

Publisher: Changeling Press LLC 315 N. Centre St. Martinsburg, WV 25404 www.ChangelingPress.com

Editor: Crystal Esau Cover Artist: Bryan Keller

Adult Sexual Content

This e-book file contains sexually explicit scenes and adult language which some may find offensive and which is not appropriate for a young audience. Changeling Press E-Books are for sale to adults, only, as defined by the laws of the country in which you made your purchase. Please store your files wisely, where they cannot be accessed by underaged readers.

Legal File Usage — Your Rights

Payment of the download fee for this book grants the purchaser the right to download and read this file, and to maintain private backup copies of the file for the purchaser's personal use only.

The unauthorized reproduction or distribution of this or any copyrighted work is illegal. Authors are paid on a perpurchase basis. Any use of this file beyond the rights stated above constitutes theft of the author's earnings. File sharing is an international crime, prosecuted by the United States Department of Justice, Division of Cyber Crimes in cooperation with the Department of Homeland Security, and Interpol. Criminal copyright infringement, including infringement without monetary gain, is punishable by seizure of computers, up to five years in federal prison and a fine of \$250,000 per reported instance.

Table of Contents

Iron (Hades Abyss MC 11)

Prologue

Chapter One

Chapter Two

Chapter Three

Chapter Four

Chapter Five

Chapter Six

Chapter Seven

Chapter Eight

Chapter Nine

Chapter Ten

Chapter Eleven

Chapter Twelve

Chapter Thirteen

Chapter Fourteen

Epilogue

Author's Note

Acknowledgment

Playlist for Iron and Nari

Harley Wylde

Iron (Hades Abyss MC 11)

A Dixie Reapers Bad Boys Romance Harley Wylde

Nari — Pain. Humiliation. Those are the things my father taught me, and every man I've met since has done the same. Running away from home didn't fix anything. Now I'm nineteen and back in the town my family calls home. I haven't told them I'm here, and I don't plan to. But I also didn't count on a biker giving me a ride and leaving me at the Hades Abyss compound. They say they'll help me, but can I trust them? What if they're just as bad as all the others?

Iron — I'm no stranger to the darker side of life. Sometimes I'm the monster lurking in the shadows. Still, there's a line I won't cross. I will never harm an innocent woman or child. The moment I saw the tiny Asian woman cowering in front of Titan, I wanted to protect her from the world. She's been beaten, yet she's not broken. I've never met anyone like Nari before. Despite how timid she appears, she's stronger than she realizes. I know I'll do whatever it takes to make her smile and keep her safe, even if it means getting blood on my hands. The moment her family tries to take her from me, I'll show them what it means for Nari to be mine.

WARNING: Iron is intended for readers 18+ due to bad language, violence, and adult situations. There's no cheating, no cliffhanger, and a guaranteed happily ever after.

Prologue

Nari — Three Years Ago

I could hear my stepsister screaming in the other room. One of her many tantrums. She was only one year younger than me, and yet she acted incredibly immature for her age. Even worse, my family let her. Although, could I really consider them my family anymore? At what point did you merely become strangers living in the same house?

Not for the first time I considered leaving this place. I wondered how long it would take them to realize I was gone. Then again, they would probably throw a celebration. The Kwon family would finally be rid of me. My father would have abandoned me long ago if it wouldn't have brought dishonor to the Kwon family. As long as I remained here, he could claim I was a bad daughter and lead people to believe he allowed me to stay due to his benevolent nature. There were times I wanted to expose all three of them as the horrible people they were.

It had been twelve years since my father remarried and moved us from Korea to the US. Thanks to Joon and my stepmother wanting to only speak English, I remembered very little Korean. They'd not only stolen my father and my home, but also my heritage.

What made Joon so special? Why did everyone always adore her and hate me? No one could see her for the spoiled, selfish girl I knew her to be.

Joon screamed some more, and I heard something

shatter. The fact her crush had shown me the slightest bit of attention had made her completely lose it. It didn't matter that I didn't like the guy, or that he'd only been speaking to me in order to be polite. All the spoiled little bitch cared about was the fact he hadn't been paying her attention.

Everything went quiet, and I had a feeling it meant bad news for me. I could only imagine what Father had promised her in order to make Joon shut up. It could mean anything from confinement to complete and utter agony. Considering how much she hated me, something told me I was in for a beating. We'd been through this enough times for me to know my father would call the school and tell them I was sick, then I'd stay home until the marks faded. No matter how much I tried to brace myself, feeling the impact of the cane again and again always broke me. It wasn't only the pain, but also the fact my own father could do such a thing to me, and all because he preferred my stepsister.

No matter how many times I'd asked what I'd done wrong, he'd never responded. As I'd gotten older, I'd often wondered if I reminded him too much of my mother. From what I could remember he'd absolutely adored her. I'd been too small to recall anything about her death, and no one would tell me anyway. The way my father would glare at me made me wonder if I'd somehow been at fault.

I heard his footsteps and the thump of the cane as he came down the hall. Curling myself into a ball in the corner, I wondered if it wouldn't be better if he just killed me. How much longer could I survive something like this? The one time I'd tried to tell someone at school, my father and stepmother convinced them I was only seeking attention. There was no one on my side. The door opened and I buried my face against my knees and covered my head with my arms. It wouldn't stop him from beating me, but I worried what would happen if I passed out. Ending things on my own terms was different from letting him kill me. There had been a time I thought my father would never do such a thing. Now I wondered — if Joon asked him to take my life, would he even hesitate?

"You've brought this on yourself," he said. I didn't even get a chance to respond before the cane slammed into my arms. He didn't stop. Blow after blow landed on my legs, ribs, arms... and after I collapsed onto my stomach, he continued to hit me from my shoulders all the way to the soles of my feet.

By the time he finished, I could hear his labored breaths. I didn't dare look up. My father left the room without a word, and I heard him insert the key into the lock and twist it. I managed to crawl my way into the bathroom before I threw up. The pain left me dizzy, and tears streaked my cheeks.

I knew if I remained still, it would only be worse tomorrow. I filled the tub with cold water and managed to undress and pull myself into it. My teeth chattered and I gripped the sides of the tub to keep from sinking under the water. No matter how many times I'd thought death might be preferable, I refused to give them the satisfaction of knowing they'd driven me to take my own life. If I were going to end it all, it wouldn't be here at the house or right after a beating. I'd make sure they wouldn't be able to cover it up, and I would leave a note telling the world what kind of monsters they were.

Closing my eyes, I sent up a silent prayer that I could hold out a little longer. I either needed to find the courage to take my life — or run away. The nightmare needed to end. Whatever it took, I had to escape from these people.

Chapter One

Nari

My cheek pressed into the carpet as Gio held me down. I knew I'd be covered in bruises within the hour, if I wasn't already. Nothing new. It seemed all I had to do was breathe in order to piss him off. I'd only stayed due to a lack of options. Leaving Gio would only mean taking a chance on someone else. Men didn't help runaway teens for nothing. They either made us drug mules, thieves, or prostitutes. I couldn't think of a way to escape. Everyone I'd ever trusted had betrayed me. Why should that change?

If things had been different, if my family had cared even a little, I never would have run away. Living at home had been awful, but my life on the streets was far worse.

"You stupid, worthless cunt! Where's my money?" he asked for the fifth time. As if my answer was suddenly going to change.

"I told you I don't have it. I couldn't find any work today, Gio." Or more accurately, I hadn't found a mark. Stealing was my forte.

He leaned in closer. "Then you have a choice, Nari. You can pay the money by spending a few nights at the house on Spruce, or you find a high-paying job before morning. Which is it going to be?"

I swallowed hard. It wasn't really a choice at all. I refused to go near drugs, and I really didn't want to be a

whore. I couldn't understand the girls and women who chose that path. I didn't look down on them for it, but it wasn't something I'd ever voluntarily do. Of course, if I wanted a legal job, there was always the strip club. Except I hadn't really been blessed in the curves department. I didn't even need a bra. Who the hell would pay to watch me take my clothes off? Now, letting him use me as a whore in his brothel? That was a different story. Those men didn't much care what a woman looked like, and I knew he wouldn't be sending his top customers my way. All they wanted was a living woman to fuck, although it wouldn't surprise me if some didn't even care if I was alive when they fucked me. I'd learned the hard way just how screwed up people could be.

"I'll find a job," I said. "Please, Gio. I really tried."

He finally released me and stood. "Fine. By sunrise, you better have something lined up. If not, don't bother coming home. You either take your ass over to Spruce, or you better run."

As if running would do me any good. He'd track me down and things would be even worse. But I had to try. I refused to go down without a fight, or at the very least a lastditch effort. If only I'd known I was heading in this direction the moment I walked out of my dad's house. Not once had I seen my picture on the news or in any papers. He'd never bothered to search for me. Why would he, when he had his precious Joon?

Maybe I could go home. Or at least back to my hometown. I didn't think Gio would ever think to look for me there. He knew how much I hated that place, and the hell I'd been through while I lived at home. Yeah. I should go back. I didn't bring in enough money for him to chase me across state lines.

I waited until Gio left, then packed a small backpack. It wasn't like I owned much anyway. Grabbing the little bit of cash I'd managed to hide, I shoved it into my satchel and left the house for the last time. One way or another, I was leaving this place behind. I didn't care if I had to hitchhike all the way back to Mississippi.

Every step made pain explode through my body. I stopped to put on my hoodie and made sure my face was mostly covered. I didn't need anyone seeing the marks on my body and stopping to ask questions. A rumble of a motorcycle came up behind me and slowed. I quickly glanced toward the street and realized the man was eyeing me.

I assessed his overall size and wondered if I could outrun him. Men prowling the streets for women always spelled trouble.

"Do you need a ride somewhere?" he asked.

I took in every detail of his appearance, from his Native American genes to the leather cut declaring him part of the Reckless Kings MC. I hadn't heard of them, but there was a group of bikers in my hometown — Hades Abyss MC. They'd been a little scary, but I'd never heard of them hurting kids or anything. Was his club the same? Just because he looked rough and little scary didn't mean he was a bad guy. Sometimes, the ones who looked like wholesome decent men were the most vicious.

He sighed and inched the bike closer. "Look. My name is Crow. I'm not going to hurt you, but it looks like you're in some trouble and trying to get out of here. So you can get on the back of my bike and I'll take you as far as I can. Or you can keep walking and hope whoever you're running from doesn't catch up. With the way you're moving, I'm going to assume someone beat the hell out of you."

I winced. He'd noticed that? "I'm going to Mississippi."

"What part?" he asked.

"Ever heard of a club called the Hades Abyss? I'm going to that town," I said.

He nodded. "I know them. Get on and I'll make sure you get home. It's a little out of my way, but it's fine."

Without another thought, I climbed on behind him and put my arms around his waist. It wasn't my first time on a motorcycle, even if it had been years ago. It also wasn't the first time I'd put my trust in a stranger. He'd either keep me safe, or I'd trade one abusive asshole for another.

"I'm Nari," I said. "Thanks for the ride."

"Sure thing, kid. Hold on tight." He twisted the throttle, revving the engine, then eased the bike forward. As he picked up speed and shifted gears, the wind whipped the hood off my head. I closed my eyes and pressed my forehead to his back. For the first time in forever, I felt free.

I didn't know if I'd made the right choice, but there was no going back now. I knew my family wouldn't welcome me home. Once I got to town, I'd have nowhere to go. Still, it was better than the alternative. The drive there would give me time to sort things out in my head. At least, that had been my plan. We rode for at least an hour before he pulled off and let me stretch my legs. The man really was a saint since he also bought me a drink and some food. When had someone treated me so nicely? I couldn't remember. Probably before my mom died. I didn't know his reason for helping me, and he hadn't offered an explanation. I'd put my life in his hands, and all I could do was hope I hadn't fucked up.

It took another two hours to reach the sleepy town where I'd spent most of my life, and as we drove down the main strip, I realized not much had changed. My family probably still lived in the same house. Now that we were here, I didn't know what to do. A plan still hadn't formed in my mind, and I was out of time.

"Where to?" Crow asked.

"Um, just drop me anywhere."

He stopped the bike and looked at me over his shoulder. "What the fuck, Nari? You came all the way here and don't have a place to go?"

What did it matter? He'd given me a ride, but it wasn't like he was responsible for me. We were strangers. Crow shouldn't care if I wandered the streets or not. Of course, he'd been nice enough to get me away from Gio. I should have known a decent guy wouldn't just leave me in the middle of town.

"I just needed to get this far. I appreciate everything, but I'll be fine."

"Like hell you will!" Before I could swing my leg over the bike, he took off again, forcing me to hold on tight. When he pulled up to the gates of the Hades Abyss, I wondered if I was about to find out he wasn't so nice after all. Why would he bring me here? Sure, I'd mentioned the club, but it didn't mean I was friends with any of them.

"Anyone expecting you?" the man at the gate asked.

"No, but the little one stuck to my back needs some help. Let me speak with Titan or Boomer."

"Wait here," the guy said.

Crow shook his head. "Nope. This one is a flight risk. Let me inside the gate, then make your call. I need to make sure she doesn't take off and get herself into trouble. *More* trouble."

Did he think I was twelve? I could take care of myself. Sort of. I may not have done a fantastic job so far, but it didn't mean I was a complete loser. The guy opened the gate and Crow rode through it, then stopped near what I assumed was the infamous clubhouse. I'd heard about the wild parties but never thought I'd see the place up close. Of course, it didn't exactly seem to be hopping right now. The lights were on. I heard music. However, only four bikes were parked out front. Was it too early still? Or maybe the party had already ended.

Crow patted my thigh. "Get off."

I stood and my knees nearly gave out. He gripped my arm to keep me on my feet, and I whimpered a little at the pain that shot up through my shoulder. Now that I wasn't riding behind him, I felt every single bruise and cut Gio had left on my body. This wasn't going to be a fun night.

A truck pulled up and a large man got out. I'd seen him around town before. Titan. What would he do with me? Would he kick me out? Or would he expect some sort of payment for his help? I had to wonder if I'd only traded one nightmare for another. Story of my life. Even though I hadn't heard anything about the Hades Abyss exploiting women, it didn't mean I was necessarily safe.

"What brings you here, Crow?" Titan asked.

"Got a wounded bird in need of a place to stay. Said she called this place home but wanted me to drop her off in the middle of town."

Titan came closer, eyeing me up and down. I wanted to shrink in on myself and hide from his assessing gaze. Even when he drew near enough I could feel his body heat, I couldn't bring myself to look him in the eye. At barely five feet and one hundred ten pounds, I felt like a chipmunk being stalked by a panther.

"How can this town be home if you don't actually have one to return to?" Titan asked.

"I'm not wanted there. Left a few years ago," I said. He didn't need the details, right? It wasn't like I expected him to help me.

He reached out and tipped my face up, giving me no choice but to look at him. "Seems to me going back to your parents would be better than staying with whoever did this to you."

"Yeah, I guess you would think that." I jerked my chin free and wrapped my arms around my body before backing up a step. What did he know about it? So what if I had bruises on me? It wasn't like I'd avoid them if I went back to my dad. He might pretend like I didn't exist, but the moment someone reminded him of my presence, or Joon threw a fit and blamed me for something, he made sure I couldn't leave my room.

"How old are you?" he asked.

"Nineteen. I'm an adult, so I don't need to run home to my dad. Wouldn't matter anyway. He wouldn't let me in the door."

Titan made a low humming sound and rocked back on his heels. "Well, as a father, I have to say no matter how pissed I might be at my daughter, I'd still be grateful she came home. I'm sure he loves you, even if he doesn't always show it."

Hearing him talk about love and family annoyed me. Why did people assume all families were caring? It made me want to ask if he'd had the perfect childhood.

"I left home because I'd had enough. My family was verbally, physically, and emotionally abusive. No one was going to do anything about it, so I decided to run away. I can't say my situation improved any, but it didn't get much worse either. No offense, but don't pretend you know me or what I've been through. The fact you love your daughter is amazing, and I'm jealous of her. Want to know why?"

"Why?" he asked.

"Because my father fucking hates me. All he cares about is my stepsister and her mom. I'm just the eyesore they couldn't wait to get rid of. Didn't it occur to you if I was their precious daughter, you'd have seen my picture somewhere? I left when I was sixteen. They never fucking looked for me. What does that tell you?" I asked.

"Your family is stupid," Titan said. "Fine. I can't let you live on the streets. Since Crow brought you here, I guess we'll take responsibility for you. There's a small house you can use. And by that, I mean it's one of those tiny homes, but it has everything you'll need. Mostly."

Wait. They were giving me a house all to myself? And there wasn't a catch? As much as I wanted to hope I'd finally found a safe haven, I remained skeptical. I'd been hurt and betrayed too many times. While they hadn't said I'd have to pay for the home in any way, it didn't mean they wouldn't ask for something later. No one did something just to be nice these days.

He ran a hand over his face. "Jesus. It's too fucking late for this shit. Look, I'll show you where the place is. Get some sleep, and in the morning I'll make sure you have everything you need."

"Why?" No one ever did anything for free. What would it cost me?

"Because it's the right fucking thing to do. Come on. Get in the damn truck and I'll take you over there."

Crow patted my back gently. "You're in good hands here, Nari. I'm going to hit the road and get a little closer to home before I stop for the night. Hades Abyss will take care of you. You can trust them."

Sure, because everyone who made that claim actually meant it. That was like a serial killer convincing their victims they were safe just hours before they were chopped up into little pieces. No thanks. I refused to blindly put my trust in anyone. If my own family didn't give a shit about me, why would anyone else? But... what if he was right? The thought of having people who actually cared made warmth spread through me. * * *

Iron

What the hell was going on? No one had noticed my presence yet. I stood in the shadows as Titan spoke with Crow. The young woman between them seemed terrified. I'd picked up bits and pieces of their conversation. So the little one needed a place to stay? I couldn't imagine anyone turning her away. I worried a strong wind might blow her over. Even in the darkness, I could see the bruises on her face.

Whoever had hurt her needed their ass beat. How could any man harm someone so fragile? I'd be willing to bet if I accidentally squeezed her wrist too hard, I'd break it. I didn't know how she'd endured the hell she'd clearly been through.

When I saw Titan force her into the truck, I waited until both he and Crow had left before getting on my bike, then I followed the President. He stopped outside one of the tiny homes. After opening the door, he ushered the woman inside, then followed her. I pulled into the driveway next to the truck and decided to make my presence known. The Pres didn't get a chance to shut the door before he heard my bike.

"What the fuck do you want, Iron?" he asked.

"She need help?" I asked.

He smirked. "Why? You offering?"

Was it so strange for me to want to lend a hand? I'd followed the rules since coming here. It wasn't like I'd caused trouble. When I didn't answer, he shrugged and left the door open, letting me decide if I was going inside or not. The moment I crossed the threshold, the petite woman tensed. I

held up my hands, showing her I meant no harm.

"My name is Iron. I only wanted to see if you needed anything," I said. Her stomach rumbled and her cheeks flushed. "I'm not a gourmet chef or anything, but I can bring a few things over and make dinner for us. If you're all right with that?"

She licked her lips and glanced from me to Titan and back, clearly not sure if she could trust me. I got it. If I were in her shoes, I'd probably feel the same way.

"What's your name?" I asked.

"Nari," she said softly.

"Pretty name. Nari, I don't have to stay. Just... make a list and I'll get whatever you need and drop it off. I doubt there's any food here, and you obviously need to eat," I said.

"All right. I just don't know why you're helping me," she said.

If I told her she looked like an angel with a broken wing, she'd probably run for the hills. Better to remain silent. She found some paper and a pen, quickly made a list of necessities, and handed it to me. The pres clapped me on the shoulder and headed out. What the hell? He wasn't going to say goodbye to her, or even make sure she had some numbers to call if she needed anyone?

Some days, the Pres really pissed me off and I wanted to call him an asshole, but I was doing my best not to make waves for the sake of my family. The blood-related ones. My club could fuck off if they were going to be dicks.

"Um. Let me write down my number, and the

President's. The phone here works, so just call if something happens or you need someone. And if you're more comfortable with a woman, I can ask my sister to stop by," I said.

Her eyes widened a little. "Your sister lives here?"

"Yeah. She's actually married to someone in the club. My dad is a member too. Roe isn't the only woman here, either. Aside from you, there are four. I'm sure any of them would be glad to stop by if you wanted to talk."

She gave a slight nod. I decided to write down my sister's number, and then shot off a quick text to let her know what I'd done. It wouldn't surprise me in the slightest to find Roe over here when I got back. That was just the sort of person she was.

"I'll grab these things and be back as soon as I can. I won't just let myself in. So if you hear a knock, it's probably me." Unless it was Roe, or someone else became curious. "Oh, there's also two children in the house next to this one. One of our newest Prospects is a single dad. He's big and kind of scary looking, but I promise he won't hurt you."

"I appreciate what you and the club are doing for me. No one's been nice to me like this in a long time. In fact, I can't even remember the last time." She chewed on her bottom lip. "So... thanks."

"You're welcome." I flashed her a smile before hurrying out the door. If I didn't leave, I might be tempted to stick around for a while. For some reason, I wanted to know everything about her.

Fuck. Was this what it had been like for Roe and Pyro?

I was so screwed.

Chapter Two

Nari

I'd never met anyone like Iron. While I'd felt a little hesitant when he'd first come into the house, it hadn't taken much for me to relax. There was something about him I found comforting. At first, I'd planned to ask him to leave after he dropped off the things I'd asked for. The warmth in his eyes and his easy smile changed my mind. Sure, he could have been a playboy, or completely rotten to the core. I didn't know anything about him, other than the fact he was part of the Hades Abyss and had a sister. So why did it feel like I could trust him?

He'd stayed for dinner last night, and even helped me clean up the dishes and cookware we'd used. It may have been my imagination, but he'd seemed reluctant to leave. After he'd said goodbye, I'd locked up the house and tried to settle in. Being back in this town felt strange. I'd come here voluntarily, but knowing my family would be nearby made me feel a little anxious. What would happen if I ran into any of them in town? It was bound to happen sooner or later. I couldn't hide behind these gates forever.

It hadn't occurred to me before now, but what had they told people about my absence? They hadn't declared me missing, so did their friends think I'd just gone to live with another family or something? Part of me wanted to smile over the idea of my sudden return wrecking their precious lives, and the other part felt stark terror of what my father might do to me in retaliation. The Hades Abyss had given me this place to stay temporarily, and they seemed nice. It didn't mean they would protect me when I went into town or would go toe to toe with my family. Hell, Titan might hand me over to them, since he seemed to think my father would love me and want me back. Even though I'd told him how awful my family had been, I couldn't be sure he wouldn't think I'd exaggerated everything.

How nice it would have been to belong to that sort of family! Things would have been so very different for me if any of them had actually wanted me around. I didn't remember much about the way things were before my stepmother and Joon came into the picture. I knew my mother hadn't been dead for very long before my father introduced them to me. Now that I was older, it made me wonder if he'd already been seeing her even when my mom was still alive.

If that was the case, I hoped he choked on his expensive dinners and fucking died. No, I wanted him dead regardless. People like him didn't deserve to have nice, cushy lives where others admired them. Would it even make a difference if people found out the truth? Or would they only take my father's side anyway? With money came power, and I knew my family wasn't hurting for cash.

A knock at the door startled me and I stared at it for a moment before deciding to answer. Only Iron and Titan knew I was here. While the club president scared me a little, I didn't think Iron would let him hurt me. Seeing a woman on the other side took me by surprise.

"Um, hi," I said uncertainly. Was she at the wrong place? They'd said someone lived in the house next to this

one. Had she meant to go there instead?

"I'm Roe," she said, flashing me a smile. "Iron's sister. I thought I'd stop by and see if you were doing okay."

Oh. Oh! Iron had mentioned her last night. I stepped back and let her inside. She set down her purse and the bags she'd had in her hands. Maybe she'd just dropped in on her way home from the store. Either way, Iron had been right. Seeing another woman here did set my mind at ease a bit.

"Did you want something to drink?" I asked.

"I'm fine. Thank you for asking. I'm here to see if you have everything you need. Iron mentioned you gave him a list of things like shampoo, soap, and a few groceries. He told me he filled in some of the gaps."

I nodded. "He was really nice, and he stayed for dinner to keep me company."

Roe's smile widened. "Is that right? Usually my brother's like a surly bear with everyone except me. I'm glad to hear he knows how to mind his manners around other women, at least."

Iron? A surly bear? I couldn't see it, but maybe he just hadn't shown me that side of himself. It wasn't like we'd spent a lot of time together. He'd probably noticed how scared I was last night and done his best to set my mind at ease. It made me like him even more.

"Anyway, he gave me an idea of your overall size so I brought a few things for you. If anything doesn't fit, there's a receipt in the bag so you can exchange them. Although, I guess you'd need a ride. I heard someone from another club dropped you off here." I didn't feel like getting into my story right now. "Crow saw me walking and offered me a ride. I couldn't go to my family, so..."

"The bruises on your face... do you have them elsewhere too?" she asked. "I'm not trying to be nosy. I think you may need medical attention. Iron said the way you moved made him think you'd been hurt badly."

He'd called his sister to tell her he was concerned about me? That warm feeling was back again. Why was he being so nice to me?

"I'm bruised everywhere, and I do have some cuts," I admitted.

"Would you be comfortable with a doctor coming to see you?" she asked.

"I'm not sure." When was the last time I went to the doctor? Other than routine visits, I hadn't seen anyone since we left Korea. I hadn't been permitted to go in whenever I felt sick, or when my father beat me. If anyone had seen the things he'd done to me, the government would have stepped in to do something. Or so I assumed. It's what happened on TV at any rate. Would anyone have really cared, though?

"I'd be happy to stay with you, or..." She pursed her lips. "I could call Iron. He could come stay with you while the doctor is here, but you'd have to undress enough for your wounds to be treated."

My cheeks warmed at the mere thought of Iron seeing me without all my clothes on. It wasn't like he'd be interested in a flat-chested woman like me. With his looks and sweet personality, he probably had women lining up to be with him. I couldn't picture him with someone like me.

"Hmm." Roe folded her arms. "All right. I'll have Bones drop by. He's part of the club, but he's also a doctor."

Wait. She was going to send a stranger here and leave me alone with them? My heart started to race, and I felt my palms sweat a little. What if he was scary like Titan? Or... A fist pounded on the door and I jumped, my hand going to my throat as I stared at it in terror. Was he here already?

Roe went to open it, and the moment I saw Iron, my fear began to subside. I hadn't seen her use her phone, so I didn't know why I'd assumed the doctor was here. Although, why had Iron come by right now?

"What the hell, Roe?" he demanded, shoving past her and hurrying over to me. He took my hand and tipped my chin up. "What's wrong? What did she say to you?"

"I'm fine." I licked my lips. "It was just a panic attack, I think."

"Something triggered it, and my sister is the only one here. Seriously, Roe, what the fuck did you say to her?" He turned to glare at her. I wanted to reassure him everything was fine, but my knees felt a little weak. I needed to sit before I collapsed.

"I said she should see a doctor and offered to have Bones stop by." Roe shrugged. "I didn't realize she'd react like that. You know I wouldn't hurt her, Iron. Don't be such a dick."

"Pyro is a bad influence on you. Since when do you say stuff like that?" he asked.

"Doesn't make sense for a biker to have a prim and proper wife. I needed to meet him halfway. Although, I still won't say the S or F words. There are some lines I just won't cross."

I felt like I'd been dropped into another world. What the hell were they talking about? Before I could ask, Iron turned to me again, swept me up into his arms, and carried me over to the couch. I didn't have time to freak out before he eased me down onto the soft cushions and kneeled at my feet.

"Are you sure you're okay, Nari?" he asked.

"I'm fine. Really. And she's right about me needing to see a doctor. The idea of a strange man coming in bothered me."

"No one here is going to hurt you," he said. "I promise."

"Your club didn't have to give me a place to stay, and you didn't have to take care of me yesterday. I appreciate all of it. I'm sorry the idea of your club doctor coming here freaked me out. I haven't really had a reason to trust men."

He nodded. "I get it. A lot of women have been in similar situations. I'm amazed you let me stay as long as you did yesterday."

"I'm not scared of you," I said softly.

Roe let out a long whistle. "I never thought I'd see this day. My hard-as-nails brother, the guy who goes through women and never commits to them, the one who hates the world, is being sweet to someone other than me. She said as much, but I wasn't sure I could believe her." "Shut the hell up, Roe!" He narrowed his eyes at her. "You're not helping the situation. Why are you here anyway?"

She nudged the bags with her toe. "Brought her some more clothes. You're welcome."

My cheeks heated again. I hadn't thought to thank her. Then again, it had been a long time since I'd felt the need to say those words. I wasn't used to so many people helping me. Or anyone at all, for that matter. It was a strange experience for me.

"She was talking to me, not you," Iron said, giving my hand a squeeze. "It seems my sister caught on rather quickly."

"What do you mean?" I asked.

He sighed and rubbed the back of his neck. "I like you, Nari. It's why I came by last night. Seeing you in the clubhouse parking lot, everything in me screamed for me to protect you. Never felt like that before. Not even with Roe. This is... different."

"You owe me and Pyro an apology," Roe said. "You can give it at our next family dinner."

Without another word, she left. I stared at the closed door for a moment before focusing on Iron again. He liked me? Why? And as what? A friend? A project? I didn't think he meant in a girlfriend sort of way.

"It's a lot, right?" he asked. "What do you need from me, Nari? Whatever it is, that's what I'll give you."

Maybe he really could help me. If I told him about my dad and the things I suffered while I lived at home, could he find a way to protect me? The idea of running into them around town terrified me. I'd rather face a million abusive men than go up against my family. Not once had I ever won against them. Even when I left, it hadn't disrupted their lives at all. If anything, they were probably glad I'd saved them the trouble of getting rid of me.

My story spilled out. The words tore free, as if they were being ripped from my very soul. At one point, Iron reached out to wipe tears off my cheeks. I hadn't even realized I was crying. I couldn't look him in the eye. What if he didn't see me the same way after this?

"They live in town?" he asked.

I nodded. "They'll eventually know I'm back. I'm sure it won't make them happy."

"First thing we need to do is find out what story they told everyone. Our club has a hacker. Wizard. I'm going to text him your name and enough information for him to look into things. Is it all right if I stay here with you? I don't feel right leaving you alone right now."

"I'd like that." Part me hoped he'd still see me the same as he did before. Or was I just some pathetic child who'd run away from home now that he knew everything?

He pulled out his phone, then shifted so he could sit beside me. He angled the screen, and I realized he was letting me read everything he was typing. Once he'd finished, he sent the message.

"I'm not sure how long it will take him. Do you want to watch a movie while we wait? Or are you hungry?" he asked.

"I don't think I could eat anything right now. A movie

sounds good, though. Are you sure you don't mind staying?"

He put his arm around me, and I leaned into his side. "Even if you'd kicked me out, I'd have waited outside. I worried about you last night after I left."

"Would you... I mean... if you wanted, you could..." Why was I having so much trouble? It wasn't like I'd never shared a bed with someone before. "Do you want to stay here tonight?"

He shifted a little and I could feel him watching me. "I'm a lot older than you, Nari. You know that, right? But it doesn't mean I see you as a kid. I'm very much aware you're a woman."

"I'm glad you don't think I'm a child," I said.

"Not sure you're ready for me to stay the night. But if you'd like me to stick around until you fall asleep later, then I can do that. We've got all day. Let's watch some movies, see what Wizard has to say, then come up with a plan for dealing with your family."

"All right." It wasn't exactly the answer I'd hoped for, but I'd take it. I really didn't want to be alone right now.

I let him pick what we'd watch, and I tried to focus on the TV. My thoughts were chaotic at the moment. Fear filled me over the thought of what my father might do once he knew I was here. And I felt apprehensive. Iron seemed so wonderful, and even his sister had been nice to me. But what if the rest of the club didn't want me here? I didn't have anywhere else to go.

Iron's phone rang and he showed me the screen. *Wizard*. He paused the movie and answered the call.

"What did you find?" he asked, not even bothering to say hello first. He put the call on speaker so I could hear too. "Nari is listening as well."

"Miss Nari Kwon, it's a pleasure to meet you," Wizard said. "Just wish it were under better circumstances. Iron said you didn't know why your family never looked for you. From what I've been able to dig up, it looks like they've told everyone you're out of town."

"For all these years?" I asked.

"He said something about learning to be a proper wife." Wizard cleared his throat. "There's something else. Do you know the name Michael Sanders?"

"Yeah. His father is a friend of my dad's," I said. "What does he have to do with anything?"

"He's the one you're engaged to. Your father even put an announcement in the newspaper here last year."

I didn't understand. How could I be engaged when I hadn't even lived at home for so long? Had he known where I was all this time? It wouldn't surprise me. He could have grabbed me off the street whenever he wanted, and no one would have done anything about it.

"So you think once he realizes she's in town, there's going to be trouble?" Iron asked.

"Yeah. He'll find a way to force her back home, and most likely have her married to Sanders as quickly as possible. Looks like it's part of a business deal," Wizard said.

"Then why not use my stepsister, Joon?" I asked. "She's the favorite." "Joon Kwon is currently dating the mayor's son. I'm sure that connection is more important to them. Doesn't mean they'll let you walk away," Wizard said. "Unless..."

"Unless what?" Iron asked.

"Unless she's not available anymore. Hard to kidnap a married woman and make her get hitched to someone else."

Iron tensed beside me. "What?"

"You heard me. Just say the word," Wizard said.

"What's going on?" I asked. "How am I supposed to get married? It's not like anyone is going to want someone like me. Even Michael Sanders... if he saw me, he'd probably dump me right away."

"First, there's not a damn thing wrong with you, Nari," Iron said. "And second... Do it, Wizard. Just tell Titan what's going on. I don't need him getting pissed at me over this shit."

"All right. Congratulations, Nari. You're now Mrs. Kaizer. Although... You know, Iron, if you wanted, I could give you the same last name as your dad."

"Not right now," Iron said.

"Wait. What's going on?" I asked. "I don't understand."

"I'll call you later, Wizard. I need to defuse the bomb you just dropped on us," Iron said. He ended the call and took a deep breath before facing me. "My name is Jack Kaizer. I go by Iron. And... the asshole who was just on the phone is going to make sure we're married. He'll hack into the government offices and make sure everything looks legit if anyone goes digging." "Married? You and me?" I asked.

He nodded. "You can have as much time as you need to adjust to everything, but... I think you should move in with me. If you want your own room, I'll understand."

I didn't even know what to think or say. Married? To Iron? It didn't seem real.

Chapter Three

Iron

I wanted to thank Wizard, and also kick his ass. There had to have been a better way to break the news to Nari. Hell, I'd told him to go ahead and marry us without even discussing it with her first. What if she hated me for taking control? I might have done it as a way to protect her, but it didn't mean she wanted to be stuck with me for the rest of her life.

"There are some things we need to discuss," I said. "And you may not like everything I have to say."

She tipped her head to the side, waiting patiently for me to continue. I cleared my throat and glanced away for a moment. Why the hell did she have to look so damn cute? The woman was downright adorable. I'd always gone for edgy or sexy women. Nari was completely different from what I'd always thought was my *type*. I may have dated younger women, but there hadn't ever been this big of an age gap. I had no doubt we'd hear comments. As long as their words didn't hurt Nari, I couldn't care less.

"Like what?" she asked when I remained silent for too long.

"Well, I'll need to tell you how the club works. And..." Why did I find it so hard to tell her there wouldn't be a divorce? Ever. Not only would the club not allow it, I knew I would never want to let her go. "I'm afraid this is a forever sort of deal." Her brow furrowed and her nose crinkled. "Isn't marriage supposed to be forever?"

She had a good point. Didn't mean marriages lasted these days. Then again, depending on how she'd been raised, it was possible divorce had never crossed her mind. I knew some cultures didn't only frown on divorce, but families could shun their children if they didn't stay married to their spouses.

"It is. We don't really know much about each other, so we should probably take a few days to adjust. You can ask me anything you want. But first, we need to pack your things and move you over to our home."

She smiled softly. "Our. I haven't had a home in so long. I can't wait to see what it looks like."

I only hoped she wouldn't be disappointed. The club had given me a nice place, but it was on the plain side. I hadn't bothered to decorate. On the plus side, she'd pretty much have a blank canvas. She could do whatever she wanted to the house.

I helped her gather her things, then realized I only had my bike. I wasn't ready to talk to my sister again or let my dad know I was married. *Shit*. Marauder was going to give me an earful. I hadn't been the best son, not since discovering he was my biological father. Honestly, I'd been a dick to him more often than not.

Realistically, I knew it wasn't his fault he hadn't known about me. It was a miracle I hadn't knocked someone up already. Then again, maybe I had and just didn't know. It bothered me, thinking there could be a kid out there who needed a dad while I didn't have a clue they existed. It was part of why I'd slowed down on the parties and women. Discovering my dad had been part of my club all these years, and we'd never realized we were related had made me feel like the universe shook me up and dumped me on my head.

"What's wrong?" she asked.

"Not sure how to get you and all this over to the house. We can't carry everything on my bike. Could you wait here while I borrow a club truck? We'll need to get a car or something as extra transportation for you." In fact, I could get Wizard to look into it. He might be able to hack the county impound lot records and see if there was anything we could claim. I quickly sent him a text.

Nari is going to need a vehicle. Can you help us find one?

I got a thumbs-up in response.

"Guess it's a good thing my dad let me get my license, even if it was all for show. He didn't really care if I could drive or not. He just didn't want anyone thinking something was off in our family," she said. "But I haven't driven in years."

"You can practice around the compound before going into town. I'm sure it will all come back to you." I reached out to tug her closer. "I'll be right back. Don't open the door for anyone except me. I'm not sure if Wizard has told anyone we're married."

She paled a little. "Is Titan going to be mad?"

"He's most likely going to yell quite a bit. I could tell he scared you, so I don't want you to have to face him on your own right now." If Titan intimidated her when he was being nice, I didn't want to think of how she'd react when he was pissed off. He wasn't small by any means, and my new wife seemed a bit on the timid side. Then again, considering the number of bruises I could see, it wasn't surprising. The man who was supposed to keep her safe had hurt her all her life, and it seemed like she'd found even more trouble after she'd left home.

I let myself out of the house and jogged over to the clubhouse. I snatched a set of keys behind the bar and borrowed one of the club trucks. When I pulled into the driveway at the tiny home, I saw two more bikes. Titan and Boomer were both at the front door. I got out and walked up to them, preparing myself for the worst.

"What the fuck is going on?" Titan demanded. Boomer placed a hand on his shoulder, most likely to hold him back. "Is there a reason I got a text from Wizard saying you married the girl inside?"

"I guess he didn't tell you everything," I said. "But first, could you lower your voice, Pres? You're probably scaring the shit out of Nari. You make her nervous when you aren't in a bad mood."

He took a calming breath, and seemed to be counting to ten or something, before he spoke again. "I didn't mean to scare her. And I certainly have no problem helping her out. What I need right now is for you to explain how this happened and why it's necessary, because if it's just something you wanted, then I'm going to kick your ass from one side of the compound to the other and back again."

I nodded, expecting as much. At least he was giving me a chance to tell him what was going on. I had a feeling if Boomer hadn't been here, things would have gone a bit differently. I quickly told him what Wizard discovered, and why it was necessary for Nari to be married. Although, I hadn't agreed for solely that reason.

"I like her, Titan. This wasn't a whim for me. The way Pyro knew Roe was meant to be his is exactly how I feel about Nari. I'm sorry I couldn't ask for permission. I guess on the upside, the club isn't voting anymore when we decide to claim someone as a wife or old lady. It's one less rule I've broken. I know that's how it should have gone down, but I also don't want Nari stuck inside the compound. At least our marriage will give her a layer of protection."

He nodded. "You're right, it will. I may not agree with how you handled it, but I think you did the right thing. As long as this isn't something you'll regret later."

I pointed to the truck behind me. "I'm only borrowing it to get her things over to the house. I'll drop it back by the clubhouse when we're done and come pick up my bike from here."

"I have a feeling you'll need to hold onto it for a little while longer," Titan said. "At least until you can get her a vehicle. I'll send Cam over. Load her stuff into the truck and I'll get him to drop it by your place. You can take Nari home on your bike."

Boomer flashed me a smile. "Congrats on the new wife. Although, I'd have liked to meet her. She doesn't seem like she wants to come out."

"I told her not to open the door for anyone but me, knowing she gets scared easily. Give me a second and I'll bring her out. Maybe back up a little, though?"

Boomer nodded. He and Titan both walked off a few

paces, and I knocked on the door, calling out to Nari. She opened it enough to peer around the door, probably making sure it was really me. I held out my hand, and she took it, coming outside.

"I hear the two of you are married," Titan said. Nari immediately hid behind me, her hands gripping my cut. "Welcome to the Hades Abyss family, Nari. If the two of you need anything, I'm only a phone call away. I'm sure my wife will want to stop by and say hi sometime soon. Have Iron let us know when you're ready to meet more people."

She peeked around me at the President, her gaze darting over to the VP. I introduced them, and Boomer's easy smile seemed to set her at ease. I managed to put my arm around her, pulling her against my side and out from behind me.

"No one in this club will hurt you," I said. "Now you've met the President and VP, as well as my sister. I'll introduce you to Roe's husband later, as well as my dad. Um. My dad is bigger than Titan, but you don't need to be scared of him."

I heard a shout next door, and a kid came running out. Everything happened so fast, none of us could process everything at once. Right about the time the kid's feet hit the street, I heard several bikes heading our way. I didn't get a chance to react, and neither did Titan or Boomer. Nari broke free of me and ran for the little boy, yanking him back as all three of my brothers came to a halt.

Jacob came out, terror etched on his face. His son clung to Nari for a moment, said something to her I didn't catch, and went running to his dad. The moment she saw Jacob, she paled and swayed. It seemed the bravery she'd found while saving his son had now fled. I rushed over to her.

"Nari, you're okay. That's Jacob. He's one of our Prospects, and the boy you saved is his son. Remember what I said? No one here will hurt you."

Jacob sent his son inside and came closer, moving slowly. "Thank you. He knows better than to run into the street, but his sister made him angry."

"I'm glad he's okay," she said softly.

"Jacob, this is my wife, Nari. She hasn't had the best of luck with men, so don't be offended. She's wary of everyone."

"Except you," she said, tucking her face against me.

"Right. Except me." I hugged her to me tighter. "Come on, Nari. You'll get a chance to meet everyone another day. I want to make sure you're comfortable here first."

Titan and Boomer headed over to Jacob's place while I loaded Nari's things into the truck. She didn't have much. Since I'd bought her groceries last night, I decided to take those with us. At least I'd know I'd have something stocked she would enjoy, since she'd made the list herself. It didn't take long to empty the house, and with a quick wave to everyone, I got on my bike, then helped Nari on behind me.

Her arms went around my waist, and the way she melted against me made me wonder how many times she'd ridden on the back of a motorcycle. I wasn't sure I wanted to know the answer. What if coming here with Crow wasn't her first time? I didn't like the thought of her clinging to other men the way she was doing with me right now. Didn't matter I hadn't known her before yesterday. The caveman side of me wanted to chase off anyone who might even look her way.

"I'll go slow," I said, wondering if the ride would cause her any pain. I still didn't know how bad her wounds were. I'd need to get Bones over to the house to take a look at her. Hopefully, she wouldn't freak out when she met him.

I parked in the carport and led her through the side door and into the laundry room. She carefully took off her shoes, and I did the same. It wasn't something I'd normally do, but I'd noticed she didn't wear shoes in the house and I wondered if it was part of her culture.

"So..." I pointed to our shoes. "What's the reason behind taking off your shoes when you enter the house?"

She tensed and stared at the shoes. "Sorry. I did it without thinking."

"Nari, this is your home. I don't mind taking my shoes off. Is this part of your culture or something else?" I asked.

"In Korea, it's common to remove your shoes when you enter your home or anyone else's. It's not only a sign of respect, but we often sit and sleep on the floor. Your shoes carry a lot of dirt and germs, so we remove them."

I nodded. "All right. I'll make sure everyone is aware of the custom. Like I said, this is your home now. I don't care if you tell everyone to enter the house walking on their hands. This is *your* space, not theirs. Understood?"

"Yes." She gave me a slight smile. "Even though we moved here when I was still pretty young, my family still removed their shoes when they came home. I haven't lived in places where that was a good idea, but I guess when I came inside and saw the clean floors, instinct took over." "Do you remember much about living in Korea?" I asked.

"Not really. I only recall a few words, but I'm not even sure if I'd say them correctly or use them in the right context. Once we moved here, my stepsister and stepmother insisted we speak only English."

"Let me show you around. The place is on the plain side, so we can change anything you don't like. Don't be afraid to tell me if you want new furniture, walls painted, or anything else."

She took my hand. "I'm glad Crow brought me here, and that I met you. I'm not sure what would have happened to me if he'd dropped me off in town like I'd asked. Either way, I couldn't have stayed where I was. The man who hurt me was going to force me into prostitution."

I tensed and tried to take a few calming breaths. The fucker was going to do what? I needed a name. Where he lived. And then I was going to beat the shit out of him and make him wish he'd never been born. I seriously hated fuckedup guys like that. They gave the rest of us a bad name. People would often cross the street to avoid me, thinking I would hurt them. Nothing could be further from the truth. I might not have any qualms over fucking up a piece of shit like the woman who took advantage of Jacob, or the monsters hiding behind religion who'd attacked my sister, but innocent people like Nari deserved to be protected at all costs.

"Was that the first time someone has done that to you?" I asked.

"Yes. Well, sort of. I never had to work the streets or anything, but I did whatever was necessary to survive. If that meant I slept with a guy in order to not starve, then I'd do it, but I always committed to them for as long as I could. It was the only way I could feel better about myself," she said.

I heard the front door open and Cam's voice call out. "I brought the truck. Looks like there's cold stuff in the back seat."

"Take it to the kitchen," I yelled back, then led Nari farther away. I could tell she wasn't ready to meet anyone else right now. While she explored our bedroom and bathroom, I shot off a text to Titan.

Please ask everyone to knock or ring the bell if they come by my house. And from now on, everyone has to take off their shoes if they come inside.

It only took a moment to receive a *wtf* back from Titan. Yeah, I knew he probably had some questions over that last part. Not something I was going to discuss in detail right now.

It's a Korean thing. I couldn't think of an easier way to put it right now. I'd give everyone Nari's explanation later. For now, that would hopefully be enough to make sure no one came inside with shoes on.

Shit! "Cam! Don't come in with your shoes on!"

"Uh... Too late."

"Fuck," I muttered. Nari tugged on my hand. "Sorry. I didn't think to tell him. I'll clean the floors for you once he's gone."

"I can do it," she said. "This is my home now, right? Then I should take care of it."

I wasn't sure how to process her words. Did she mean

she wanted to do it because she liked having a place of her own? Or was it some sort of bullshit about women being the only ones who should clean? If it was the first part, then I had no issue with her cleaning as much as she wanted. As to the second one... well, it would probably take some time for Nari to realize she wasn't my slave, wasn't beneath me in any way, and I didn't expect that sort of stuff from her.

Once Cam left, I led Nari through the rest of the house. I wondered if I could research Korean homes and find a way to bring more of her culture into our house. As she said, this was her home now. I wanted her to be at ease here and feel like she belonged. Whatever it took, I'd make sure she didn't regret being married to me.

Chapter Four

Nari

I couldn't stop wondering about the man and little boy I'd met earlier. He'd mentioned he also had a daughter. How did the three of them manage to live in such a small home? When Iron had said the club had women and children, I hadn't thought much of it. Not until I'd met Roe and the little boy. Hearing there were families here and seeing it were two different things. Even though his son had run into the street, the man had only been worried about him. He hadn't yelled at the boy, hit him, or threatened him in any way.

"You're deep in thought," Iron said.

"Things are just so different here. If I'd run into the street when I was younger, my father would have made sure I couldn't even walk by the next day. Of course, he wouldn't have done that in front of anyone." I hadn't considered that. What if that man hurt the boy once they were home? "Will the little boy be okay?"

Iron ran a hand down my back. "He'll be fine. Jacob is never harsh with his children. In fact, he got into some trouble when he tried to save his daughter. It's how he came to be part of the club. He suffered a traumatic brain injury, and it can't be cured. Jacob used to be an MMA fighter. Got hit one too many times. He didn't get proper medical care at the time, and unfortunately, his condition is now irreversible."

"He seemed nice," I said.

"He is. He protected my sister when people abducted her. If it weren't for Jacob, we may not have gotten to Roe in time. He also stepped in to help our club when it counted. In exchange, we got his daughter the help she needed, and offered him that home and the chance to prospect for the club."

"What exactly does that mean?" I asked.

"A Prospect is someone who does a lot of the grunt work around here. They have to prove themselves, and their loyalty, before they can earn a patch and road name. I don't see any issues with Jacob patching in when the time is right."

"And the one who brought the truck? Cam, I think was his name?"

Iron nodded. "Cam is also a Prospect. There's one more. Mason."

"It sounds like there are a lot of people who live here." Would I ever be able to remember everyone's names? I worried I'd feel overwhelmed when I got a chance to meet them all. "And there are more kids?"

"There are, and yeah, the club is growing. My dad and I came here somewhat recently. If it weren't for my sister marrying Pyro, we'd still be in Missouri. When she decided to make a life for herself here, Titan offered us both a place with this chapter." He tucked my hair behind my ear. "I'm damn glad about that right now. Otherwise, I might never have met you."

I could tell there was something else he wanted to say. He'd been a little tense ever since the tour of the house. Had I not made it clear I liked the place? Was he worried I didn't want to stay here? Or was something else weighing on his mind?

"I feel like there's something you aren't saying." I reached up to place my hand over his, where he'd laid it to rest against my neck. "Whatever it is, please don't keep it from me. I've already lived a life full of lies and misconceptions. I don't want to do that anymore."

"I wasn't sure how to bring up the club doctor. I'd like for him to take a look at you, but I didn't think you'd feel comfortable. We could find a female doctor in town."

I shook my head. I wasn't ready to venture out there yet. Not after hearing what my father had done. No good would come of him knowing my current location. Eventually, I'd have to see him. When I felt ready.

I knew Iron had married me to keep me safe. However, they didn't know my father and what he was capable of. I still worried it wouldn't be enough to save me.

"I'm fine with Bones," I said. "Just... stay with me?"

He nodded. "I'll hold your hand the entire time if that's what you want. You going to be okay partially undressing in front of us?"

"You're my husband now, right?"

"That doesn't mean you should offer yourself to me, unless it's something you really want. I'm not like that, Nari. You can ask anyone around here. Some will say I'm an icecold bastard, but they'll all agree I don't take advantage of women."

I couldn't see the "ice-cold" part. It wasn't the first

time someone had made a comment about him acting differently with me. Was it true? Was I only seeing one side of him? It made me feel a little apprehensive. It was possible I'd only traded one abuser for another, although Iron didn't seem like the sort to do something like that. We were still strangers, though, and I couldn't say with any certainty things wouldn't go badly for me here.

I hoped the more I got to know him and the others in the club, the better I'd feel. Right now, I might be back in a town I'd lived in most of my life, but being at the Hades Abyss compound was like living in an entirely different world.

"Never thought you did," I said. "And I can't say for sure when I'll be ready for sex, but I do want to sleep next to you at night. If I hide in another room, it will only make it more difficult for us to grow closer, won't it?"

"You make a good point. But again, at your pace, and only when you're ready." He leaned down and kissed my cheek. His lips felt warm, and I couldn't help but smile. No one had ever been so sweet to me before. Even if this was all a charade, I'd enjoy it while I could. And I'd keep my fingers crossed the Iron I was getting to know was the real one. I knew there was a chance he was showing me his true self.

"Do you and your sister get along? There seemed to be some tension between you earlier."

His eyebrows rose. "Changing the subject?"

"Not entirely. She'd offered to stay with me before when the doctor came, but I hadn't felt comfortable enough with her. It made me remember the way you'd acted with her at the other house." "I didn't know about Roe until a year ago. That being said, I love my sister. I'd take down anyone who ever tried to hurt her. At the same time, I didn't like the fact she'd scared you. I don't think it was intentional. She's not the type to hurt someone."

So, in other words, typical brother-sister dynamic. Or the way I thought it should be. When it came to siblings, I didn't exactly have the best example with Joon. I only wished we had that sort of relationship. Instead, she'd done everything she could to destroy my life.

"Do you think Roe and I could be friends?" I asked.

"If I know my sister half as well as I think I do, then she already considers you family. The simple fact I was interested in you would have been enough for her to decide you're one of us. Now that we're actually married, she'll claim you as a sister."

Tears stung my eyes. Really? Someone actually wanted me as their sister? I couldn't imagine such a thing. When I'd first met Joon, I'd been happy, thinking I'd have someone who wanted to hang out with me. Instead, I'd ended up with a spoiled monster who hated my guts. I still didn't know why she disliked me so much. I'd never done anything to her.

"Go ahead and call Bones," I said. "I'd rather get this out of the way, but I'm warning you, it won't be pretty. Not only because of my current wounds, but I have some scars as well."

"Nari, I'm not going to see you any differently. The things other people have done to you don't detract from who you are as a person, and I can tell you're sweet. You may have fought hard to stay alive, but I can see the gentleness inside you. Hell, you looked like a terrified rabbit when faced with Titan last night. Why would some marks on your skin change anything?"

I understood what he meant. While I should have felt relieved at his words, I didn't. Even if he didn't see me differently, I couldn't look at them without thinking there must be something wrong with me. Why else would everyone have hurt me all my life?

"Hey." He gently touched my cheek. "Whatever dark thoughts you just had, shake them loose. I meant what I said. Put those things in your past and leave them there. I'm not going to let anyone hurt you again, Nari. You're my wife. Do you honestly think I'd stand by while someone hit you, or verbally abused you? Because I won't. I'll make them wish they were dead."

If this was his way of reassuring me, I had to admit it was rather unique. I'd never had anyone threaten someone for me before. It felt... good. Would he really harm someone? I'd heard the whispers around town about the Hades Abyss. While they weren't obvious about it, people said they broke the law on a regular basis. I'd never really considered what that might mean. Drugs. Guns. Prostitution. Murder?

The thought of being part of a club that might do those things should terrify me. Instead, I only felt grateful Iron would stand by my side no matter what. Of course, it could all be a lie. For some reason, I felt like I could believe him. I'd been lied to so many times, I hoped by now I could spot those who intended to betray me. He seemed different from the others. Men had promised to help me, smiled at me with warmth and kindness, only to want things in return. I'd learned the hard way nothing was ever free.

Even those who dated me weren't honest about their intentions. They used me, plain and simple. And every last one of them was seeing other women. My life had been filled with liars even before I ran away. People at school always said one thing to my face, but I heard them whispering to others behind my back. People were devious and didn't seem to care about others.

"Will I ever fit in here?" I asked.

"What makes you think you don't already?"

He made a good point. I'd only met a few people. While Roe had seemed bubbly and bright, maybe the other women were more reserved or shy. I'd try to do better and not think so negatively about myself, but I knew it would take time. After years of being told how worthless I was, I knew it wouldn't be easy to crawl out of the hole. Iron had given me an opportunity to figure out who I was, and who I wanted to be.

"I guess I'll find out sooner or later," I said. "But first, ask Bones to come over. You seem worried about me."

"I am. Put your things away while I make my call. There should be enough room, but if not, just shove my stuff to the side. Remember, Nari, this is your home now."

I nodded and watched him walk away. It didn't take long to put up the few clothes I had. Even with my belongings mixed in with his, there was still space left over. While I might not have a large wardrobe, it appeared Iron didn't either. He had one drawer with socks and underwear. One full of T-shirts, and the bottom one had three pairs of sweatpants and nothing else. The closet only contained a few pairs of jeans and two button-down shirts.

He'd mentioned he hadn't lived here for long. Did he still have things in Missouri, or did he not own a lot of clothes? It looked sparse to me. For the first time ever, I wondered what it would be like to shop for someone else. Something told me it would be a little thrilling to pick out things for Iron. Whenever he wore something I'd chosen, it would make me feel special.

One step at a time, Nari. We didn't know nearly enough about one another. He might not be the type of man who enjoyed someone buying clothes for him. If that was the case, then I'd have to hide my disappointment.

I didn't know how much time passed before someone knocked on the bedroom door. I glanced over and saw Iron and another man behind him. He carried a black bag in his hands, just like the ones I'd seen doctors carry on TV. Which meant he was Bones.

"Nari, are you still up for this?" Iron asked.

"Let's get it over with. What do I need to do?" I asked.

"Nothing yet. Well, maybe sit on the edge of the bed. I'm going to listen to your heart, check your ears, and all that good stuff. We'll start with some basics. I'm sure you've already figured it out, but I'm Bones. Legally, I'm Dr. Masters."

"It's nice to meet you," I said. "I'm Nari Kwon."

Iron cleared his throat. "No. You're Nari Kaizer."

"Right." My cheeks warmed. "Sorry. It may take me a

little bit to get used to that."

I sat down and let the doctor check my temperature, blood pressure, listen to my heart and lungs, and he even looked at my eyes and ears. He backed up several steps and eyed me carefully.

"The bruises on your arms and face... where else do you have them?" he asked.

"Everywhere. The night I left, I'd been beaten. They were going to force me into being one of their whores. I decided to leave instead."

Bones folded his arms. "Good girl. You made the right decision. I know Iron will take care of you. Would you be all right with me drawing some blood? I'd like to do a basic workup so I'll have a baseline. If I'm going to be your doctor, I'd like to have as much information as I can. Iron said you hadn't been to a doctor in a long time."

"My dad made sure I got all the vaccines I needed. Other than that, I wasn't allowed to go to the doctor."

"Probably afraid someone would notice the abuse you suffered," Bones said.

I knew that's what it was. If anyone had found out, my father would have been ruined. He'd do anything to protect his image. Even tell everyone his runaway daughter was engaged to someone and would return when the time was right. It still bothered me. Had he known where I was? How else would he hand me over to my fiancé?

I took a breath to steady my nerves, then pulled my shirt over my head. Bones and Iron both tensed as they stared at me. I looked away, unable to hold either of their gazes. Being flat-chested meant I never needed a bra, and I wasn't wearing one now. I heard a growl, then found myself covered with a blanket.

"What the fuck, Nari? You didn't tell me you'd be completely naked." I glanced up at him and noticed the way he glared at Bones. The poor doctor looked both amused and embarrassed.

"Not anything I haven't seen before, Iron, and you know I'm only looking at her as a physician and not as a man."

"I don't give a fuck! She's my wife. There are parts of her only I should see."

Was it wrong I wanted to laugh? For a big, tough biker, sometimes he sounded so cute. Like now.

"I'm okay, Iron. Like he said, he's a doctor. You wanted to make sure I was all right, and this is part of it."

"No. I changed my mind. I'll tend to any wounds you have."

Bones pressed his lips together, and I could tell he was close to laughing. He cleared his throat. "All right. Nari, put your shirt back on. I'll draw your blood, and then I'll leave the two of you alone. Results should be in within a few days. I know this is a sensitive question, but should I also run a test for STDs or pregnancy?"

"I'm not a virgin, if that's what you mean. There's no way I'm pregnant, though. I haven't had sex with anyone in months. I'd have known by now."

"Regular periods?" he asked.

"Yeah. I mean, I haven't missed any. They're never exactly on time, but I haven't been more than a few days late and sometimes it's early."

"Then we can skip the pregnancy test. I still want to check for STDs just to be safe, and um... at the risk of Iron kicking my ass, I think the two of you should hold off on being intimate until we know for sure you're clean."

"Run mine too," Iron said. "I haven't been tested recently. I'm not letting her do this shit alone."

"All right. Have a seat next to her."

It didn't take Bones long to draw our blood and fill the various vials. I didn't know how he'd thought to have them prepped and ready to go, or maybe he'd just tried to be ready for anything. Either way, I hoped everything came back okay. For both of us.

"I'll call with results when I get them. Congratulations on your marriage, and welcome to the family, Nari. I think you're going to like it here."

Bones left, and Iron took my hand. I leaned into his side. Was this what it had been like for Joon all these years? To have someone supportive and understanding? It was my turn now. One way or another, I'd get my happy ending! I was done giving up on everything I wanted.

"You and me against the world, Nari. Whatever you need, it's yours," he said.

"I think... all I'll need is you. Sounds corny, doesn't it? But it's the truth. You've given me something I haven't had in so long I'd forgotten what it felt like." "What's that?" he asked.

"Hope. You've given me hope, Iron."

"Call me Jack," he said. "At least when we're alone."

"Jack... Are you sure you won't regret agreeing to this? I'm sure you could have had any woman you wanted. I'm not beautiful. Certainly not curvy. There's not a single thing I'm good at."

"Hey. We talked about this. No more negative thoughts, Nari. I happen to think you're adorable, and yes, I find you beautiful. I don't care if you're an A-cup or your tits are so big you need help carrying them around. As long as they're yours, I'll love them. So stop worrying over nonsense."

"I'll do my best." That was as much as I could promise for now.

Chapter Five

Iron

I had a wife, a woman to hold every night, and I had to keep my dick in my pants. The old me would have been pissed. Since finding out about Roe, and seeing her with Pyro, I'd changed. I didn't care about easy pussy and wanted something lasting. With Nari, I could have that. It just required me to be a little patient. I vaguely remembered someone saying something about the best things in life requiring a little effort. "I'm proud of you," I said. "I'd expected you to be more afraid of Bones."

I slowly undressed her, amazed she actually let me. When the last garment fell to the floor, I walked around her, assessing every bruise, scrape, and scar. It wasn't as bad as I'd feared, but worse than I'd hoped. Not only was her frame petite but I could tell it had been a while since she had eaten regular meals. Her hip bones and ribs were more pronounced than they should be. No matter how much I tried to hold back, I couldn't. I stepped closer and wrapped her in my arms, holding her close.

She didn't stiffen or tense in any way. The simple fact she was willing to let me hold her like this showed how much she trusted me. If there was some way to ease her pain or take away her scars, I would. It didn't matter if I saw her as beautiful. I wanted her to be able to see herself that way, and right now, I could tell she didn't.

"Will you get in the shower with me?" she asked. "I

know we can't do anything, and I don't think I'm ready for that anyway, but I want to see how I react. I've always shut off part of my mind and did whatever was necessary, and I don't want that to happen when we're together."

"Whatever you need, you can have." I released her and took a few steps back. I removed my cut and set it on the counter. So far, she didn't seem scared. Of course, I was still dressed. I did my best not to make it obvious I was watching her, but if I saw even the slightest hesitation on her part, I'd stop. By the time I'd removed the rest of my clothes, she'd wrapped her arms around her waist and chewed on her bottom lip. I could feel her gaze on me. She might have scars, but so did I, and a lot of ink.

She let out a breath and gave a brisk nod before turning to the shower. I reached over to turn it on, then let her set the temperature to something comfortable for her. Nari went into the shower stall and soaked her hair. When she glanced my way, I took it as permission to join her. Despite the fact she'd asked to shower with me, it didn't mean she was truly ready for something like this. I wasn't going to take the initial invitation to mean I had a greenlight to get in here with her.

"If you feel like you're going to panic, or change your mind, just tell me," I said. "I won't promise to always make you happy and give you a perfect life. It sounds like an unreasonable thing to say. I'm going to screw up sometimes. But I will do my best to make sure you have the things you need, to show you I care about you, and stay by your side regardless of what chaos lands in our path."

She sighed. "How are you single?"

"Huh?" My brow furrowed. Where the hell did that

come from?

"You're amazing, Iron."

"Jack," I corrected. "It's just us right now."

"Right. Jack. I mean it, though. You say all the right things, treat me well, you're gentle when you touch me and try not to move too quickly so you won't scare me. Women had to have been throwing themselves at your feet."

"None of them were the right one," I said. "I won't lie and say I gave them a fair chance. Some of them may have been good women who genuinely liked me. Most were just chasing a biker for a good time. My past isn't pretty, Nari."

"Neither is mine. If you aren't going to hold mine against me, why should I hold yours against you?"

She made a fair point. However, from what I'd observed, women had a tendency to want a man who knew what he was doing in the bedroom without thinking about the women he'd been with to learn those skills. As much as I wanted to pretend I'd never been with anyone but her, she needed to know who I really was. The man she saw before her wasn't the same one I showed the rest of the world. My sister was probably the only one who'd had a glimpse of my softer side, and even then, it wasn't nearly the same.

"Want me to wash your hair?" I asked.

She gave a slight nod and turned. Her back had just as many scars and bruises as her front, and I really wanted to kill the assholes who'd done this to her. Especially the one she'd recently run from, and her father. I needed to know more, and at the same time, I worried it would be too traumatizing for her to talk about it. She probably needed not only a doctor but a therapist. Would she agree to see one? Probably not. Nari had spent her entire life running from her problems. I didn't think she was ready to face them just yet.

I massaged her scalp as I worked the long strands of her hair into a lather. With the right care, I imagined it would feel silky. Right now, it felt a little dry and brittle. I didn't know much about what women needed for their hair. Thankfully, I'd been able to ask someone at the store and I'd not only bought her shampoo, but also conditioner and something called a hair mask.

I held up both containers. "Which do you want to use today?"

She took them from me and read the labels, then handed the mask to me. I helped her rinse her hair before saturating it with the thick cream. When it came time to wash her body, I hesitated. Closing my eyes, I took a breath and held it for a moment. If I did this, and ended up getting hard, she might never trust me again. Could I touch her without my body reacting?

"What's wrong?" she asked.

"Worried how you'll react if I get hard," I admitted.

"Oh." Her eyes widened a little, and she glanced down at my cock.

Great. It twitched as she stared. The longer her gaze remained on me, the more difficult it became to remain soft. She reached out and her fingers lightly grazed my shaft, and I knew there was no way I could hold back. My dick got hard in an instant, and I immediately took a step back. Shit.

"Nari, that isn't a good idea," I said. "I'm not going to

force myself on you or anything. That's not something you ever have to be afraid of. Not with me."

"You enjoyed that though, right?" she asked.

"It was brief, but yeah... Clearly, I got turned-on." Why the hell was she torturing me like this? I was doing my best to be good, to give her the time and space she needed, and I sure the fuck didn't want her thinking this was a requirement. We were married. Sure, most couples had sex. Didn't mean we had to. Not right now, and not ever if that wasn't something she ever desired. My hand worked just as well as sticking my dick into random pussy.

"Bones said we shouldn't have sex, and I'm assuming that means I can't put you in my mouth either." *Holy fuck*! Yeah, she was definitely trying to kill me. "Can I still touch you? I could make you come with my hand, if that's okay."

"Why?" My voice sounded more like the pathetic croak of a frog. This pint-sized woman was turning me inside out.

"I want to. You're the only man who hasn't asked for sexual favors or demanded anything of me. It's nice being able to offer you something without any sort of expectations." She wrapped her arms around her waist. "Makes me feel almost normal. Like we're just a regular couple."

Aw, hell. I pulled her into my arms, doing my best to ignore my cock. "We *are* a regular couple, Nari. Did we meet the way most people in town do? No. But I've learned that when it comes to my club and the women they choose, each situation is unique and far different from what any of us expected. I'm still learning about the men at this chapter, but I can give you some examples from Missouri." "Like what?" she asked.

"Spider was the President there until not too long ago. His woman is young enough to be his granddaughter. Her father let men use her, prostituted her, and abused her worse than what you've experienced. Her first day at the club, she stripped naked and offered herself to him, thinking she was there to be a whore for the club. He was pissed as hell about the situation, and I think it broke him a little to see her like that. I get it now, even if I didn't back then."

"So my father isn't the only monster," she murmured.

Sadly, no, he wasn't. There were too many bastards out there who had no business claiming the title of *Dad*. Same for women, though. Jacob's kids had the worst mother ever. She'd taken advantage of Jacob.

"Spider's woman had two sisters. One came to our club with her. She's with Rocket now. Same thing. She misunderstood why she was there and offered herself to him. Except she was only sixteen at the time. He ran to his bedroom and locked the door." Nari snickered a little. Even I could admit it was funny, and yet it wasn't. "Fox's woman also suffered sexual abuse. Her dad is a biker too, and he asked us to save her. Raven didn't trust anyone except Fox. They ended up together. Think he fell for her the second he saw her."

"You said your sister was kidnapped. Did they..."

I shook my head. "No, she didn't have to suffer anything like that. At least, not then. Another club hurt her, though. They spiked her drink, and my brother's. Cotton didn't have any idea what was going on and thought Roe was willing. He did everything he could to make things right, but she refused and ended up moving here to start over. She doesn't really remember much from that night."

"You said there are others here. Are their stories anything like mine?" she asked.

"Let's finish washing up and get out. The water will get cold. We can talk more over some food." Now that I'd had time to get myself under control, I thought I might be able to touch her without feeling like a complete ass. But Nari had other ideas. She pulled away from me, and reached for the soap, rubbing the bar between her small hands. "What are you doing?"

Without a word, she reached for my dick, wrapping her fingers around the shaft. I sucked in a breath and backed into the shower wall. She followed, not letting go. I kept my gaze focused on her face as she stroked me. The second it looked like she was forcing herself to do this, I'd put a stop to it. Until then... Well, I could tell her no, but for some reason, she seemed to want this. Or maybe she needed to do it. A way to prove to herself she had control of her life again? Whatever the case, it wasn't a hardship for me.

Her grip had just the right amount of firmness, and the little twist she added on each downstroke made my balls draw up. It had been quite a while since a woman touched me, and I knew it wasn't going to take much for her to get me off. She glanced up, and the moment our gazes locked, I was done. I felt a tingle in my spine and came so hard my cum splattered all over the front of Nari.

It took a second to catch my breath. "Are you okay?"

"Yeah." She lifted her hand and stared at it.

I saw I'd made a mess of more than just the front of

her. Reaching for the soap, I helped her clean up. After what she'd just done, I wished she'd say something more. Shouldn't have let her do this. No matter how amazing it felt, I should have stopped her. I'd known she wasn't ready, no matter what she said. Whatever happened to her, it was enough to make come back here, to a place she'd hated and a family she feared.

"I'm sorry," I said.

"For what?"

"Everything." I cupped her cheek. "Why don't we get dressed and I'll make something for us to eat? If you want, we can watch a movie afterward, or we can figure out what else you need and make a list."

"You've already given me so much."

"Not nearly enough. For one, you're going to need more clothes and shoes. And second, you need to make this place your home. We can shop online if you aren't ready to go into town just yet."

She gave a slight nod, and we finished up in the shower. Once we were dressed, I led her to the kitchen. I needed to feed her before we did anything else. The woman was skin and bones. Judging by her overall size, she'd never carry much weight on her, but I did want to help her get healthy again. It was clear the bastard who hurt her hadn't given a shit if she starved to death or not.

Sooner or later, I'd get a name from her. If she wouldn't tell me where he was, then I'd ask Crow what town he'd been in when he picked her up. Once I knew that, I'd have one of the hackers locate the asshole. I'd make sure he never hurt another woman. There was a special place in hell for men like him, and I was more than happy to send him there.

I made soup and sandwiches for us and took stock of the items I had in the kitchen. I'd need to either place an order and get a Prospect to pick it up or run to the store myself.

"What kind of things do you like to do?" I asked as we sat down to eat.

"I'm not sure what you mean."

"Well, some of the women here like to read. I saw one drawing one day. Is there anything like that you enjoy?"

"I always liked books," she said. "It gave me an escape from reality. I'm not sure if I'd be good at anything like drawing. Although, I always wanted to learn how to play the piano."

"We can get one," I said. Not that I had any fucking clue how much one would cost. Didn't matter. If she wanted one, I'd figure it out. There were always jobs I could volunteer for if I needed extra cash. Titan was good about making sure everyone was taken care of. I'd offered to help with the strip club, but now that I had a wife, I wasn't sure how I felt about it anymore. Would she be understanding about a job like that?

"What's wrong?" she asked.

"Just thinking about all the things we don't know about each other. Like my job. Not sure you'll like it."

"What is it?" she asked.

"I help run the strip club. It's a new venture for us, and since it was sort of my idea, I help manage the place. But it means I'm around mostly naked women on a regular basis. You're my wife now, Nari. I don't want to do anything to make you uncomfortable. If you want me to do something else, I'll ask Titan to move me. Plenty of the guys here would love to take my spot."

She shook her head. "It's okay. It's just work, right?"

"Exactly. I'm not sleeping with them or anything. Never touch them."

"Then I don't see a problem with it, unless you've forced them to do that kind of work."

"No. They aren't coerced into it. It's a good-paying job, and a lot of them either need the cash to take care of their families or they're saving up so they can go to college."

She tipped her head to the side and studied me. Did she dislike women who worked as strippers? Or was something else on her mind? The silence bothered me. I couldn't tell how she felt about my job, or the strip club in general.

"A lot of women don't have many options," she said. "I'm assuming your club keeps them safe?"

"Of course we do!"

"Then I think you should keep working there. It doesn't bother me, Jack. Not even a little."

I reached across the table and took her hand. How many women would be so understanding? More than once, I'd heard people around town talk about the strippers, making it sound like they were somehow less than everyone else. I didn't understand why it mattered how they earned their money. It was an honest job, paid well, and some of them were really good dancers. As long as they were fine with what they did, everyone else needed to fuck the hell off.

"I'm glad you feel that way," I said. "Come on. Let's figure out what else you need and order some stuff."

I led her to the living room and grabbed my laptop off the coffee table. Shopping might be more fun for her in an actual store, but this would do for now. Once she had all the basics, and a few extras, maybe she'd be ready to leave the compound. If not, we'd buy more stuff and have it delivered. Whatever Nari needed, I'd see she had it.

Chapter Six

Nari

Why had he worried about my reaction to his job? It wasn't like he was breaking the law or forcing those women into prostitution. Sometimes people really baffled me. *Wait*. Had he thought it would bother me for him to work around strippers? I could see how some women might feel odd about their husband seeing naked women every day. Considering the life I'd led since leaving home, it wasn't a big deal for me. If a man was going to cheat on a woman, it didn't matter where he worked... He'd find a way if that was what he really wanted to do.

However, if I were to visit him while he was working and caught him getting off while watching them, or getting a lap dance, then it might bother me. Especially after we'd been together for a while. So far, Iron didn't seem like the type of man to do something like that. We were married now. There wasn't any point in him putting effort into getting me to trust him, unless he really meant what he was saying. At least, that's what I kept telling myself. My past made it hard for me to listen even to my own reassurances.

My first day in my new home hadn't gone quite the way I'd expected. Iron not only treated me with respect, but I could tell how hard he was trying to help me feel secure. People had knocked on the door twice, and he'd sent them away. We'd spent the entire day talking and watching movies, or shopping online. He'd seemed really bothered by the fact I hadn't wanted to decorate, so I'd given in and selected an area rug online. Someone from the club picked it up and dropped it off at the house last night, and now it covered part of the living room floor. I had to admit I liked the splash of color.

"I know your life at home was far from ideal. Do you ever want kids? Or is that a hard no?" he asked as he took a swallow of coffee.

I pressed a hand to my belly. I hadn't even thought about the fact he might want to be a dad one day. With all the scars on my body, he hadn't asked about each individual one, and neither had Bones. I stood and lifted the hem of my shirt, pointing out a two-inch scar along my lower belly.

"This is a stab wound," I said. "My first year on the streets, I got caught up in a fight. Someone stuck a knife in me. I probably would have bled out, but a nurse was walking nearby when it happened. She managed to get me to a place that patched me up with no questions asked."

"I'm assuming this relates to you having children."

I nodded. "It went in pretty deep. The person who stitched me back together warned me I may not be able to have children. I've never had anyone look at it since then, and I haven't been tested for fertility, obviously. There's a chance I can't have babies."

"If you can't, we'll adopt. Only when or if you decide you want kids. It's not a deal breaker for me, Nari. The children around this place are cute, and I like seeing them play outside. Not sure I'm really dad material, though."

I felt a little relieved. "So, do you want babies?"

"Only if you do." He smiled a little. "That one is

entirely up to you. If you never want children, I'm fine with it just being the two of us from now until eternity. Or if baby fever kicks in, then we'll figure it out then. My sister is pregnant. No reason we can't just be a doting aunt and uncle."

No one had ever asked if I wanted a family. Until now. Hearing him say he was fine either way set me at ease. I'd never really been the type to want to raise a bunch of kids. Or even one, for that matter. I'd always been living day-to-day, never knowing where I'd be or what would happen next. This was the first time I could seriously sit down and contemplate what my future would look like.

"I dropped out of school," I said. "Does it bother you I never finished high school or got my GED?"

He twisted his cup in his hands and stared at me. Had I said something wrong? Would I ever get to know him well enough to understand the different looks he had throughout the day? Instead, I was always left wondering what was going on inside his head when he did something like this. Which seemed to be often.

"The question you need to ask is whether or not it bothers *you*. I accept you as you are, Nari. If not completing high school is something you don't like about yourself, then I'll help you prepare for the GED."

"And if it doesn't bother me, but only makes me feel like other people are judging me for it?"

He leaned forward. "Then tell them to fuck off because it's your life and your decision. It doesn't matter what anyone else thinks. Not even me."

Were all older men like this? Sure, I'd been with guys

who weren't my age. Just not any as old as Iron. How much had he seen and done in his lifetime already? Did I come across as a child to him? No, wait. He'd just said no one's opinion mattered except mine. I needed to stop wondering what he liked or didn't like about me, or how he saw me.

"Are you trying to say the only one who can make me feel inferior is myself?" I asked.

He pointed to me. "Bingo! If you allow what others think to influence how you see yourself, it's only going to set you up for a miserable life. Learn to love who you are, Nari. Do you even realize how strong you are? Look at everything you've been through, and yet here you are, still alive and ready to fight if necessary."

He wasn't wrong. I'd never seen myself as being strong, but maybe I was. The fact men had always been able to hurt me had made me feel weak. In time, I hoped I could be someone who could stand proudly by his side.

"You said your dad lives here too, right?" I asked.

"He does. We both moved here to be close to Roe. Did you want to meet him?"

The way he asked made me pause. "Is he... not like you? I mean, is he scary like Titan?"

"Hmm. Not an easy question to answer. For some people, my dad can be truly terrifying. With you, he'll do whatever it takes to make you feel welcome. He's big, though. Like Titan. Actually, he used to be even broader, but as he's aged, I think he's started to shrink a little. Don't tell him I said that, or he'll come out swinging."

I couldn't help but smile. It seemed like they had a

good relationship. "I wish my dad had been more like yours. It sounds like your family is really close."

Iron choked on his next swallow of coffee. "Excuse me?"

"You aren't?"

"Uh, no. Well, we weren't. Marauder and I have grown closer since coming here to be with Roe. Before this... Let's just say I didn't handle it well when I found out he was my dad. I had no fucking clue until about a year ago. Roe and I found out at the same time we were related and had the same dad. Our moms are different, though."

"Did he not know he had kids?" I asked.

"No. Neither woman told him they were pregnant. Can't really blame him for not being part of our lives, but it still pissed me off at the time. We still have moments when we clash. Not as bad as before."

"Would it be okay to invite your family over? I already met Roe. She's married though, isn't she? I think she mentioned that, or you did. And there's your dad... I think knowing more people will help me settle in more. I'm just not ready to meet the entire club."

He pulled his phone from his pocket and set it on the table, then dialed someone and put it on speaker.

"Everything okay?" a man asked when the call connected.

"Your daughter-in-law would like to meet the family." Iron smirked when his dad coughed and sputtered on the other end of the line. "I'm going to text Roe in a minute. Why don't we plan on having lunch together?"

"Wait. Daughter-in-law? What the fuck did you do, Iron?" he asked.

"Got married, obviously. You're getting slow in your old age."

"You little shit." He huffed. "I'll be there, and then you're going to explain how you're married when no one even knew you were seeing anyone."

"Roe already met her," Iron said. "Bye... Dad."

He hung up before the man could say anything else, then threw back his head and laughed like a lunatic. What the hell had I just gotten myself into?

"What was that?" I asked.

"I threw my sister under the bus. Dad will call her all pissed off that he's the last one to know, then he'll remember she's pregnant and treat her like she's made of glass. Should prove to be entertaining."

They were nuts. Clearly. So why did I feel a little jealous over the interaction between Iron and his dad? He may say they'd had some conflict between them, but I could hear the affection in both their voices. My father had never spoken to me like that. At least, not as far back as I could remember. Maybe he had when my mom had still been alive. It was so long, everything from that far back was a blur. I didn't even remember what my mother looked like, or the sound of her voice.

"We only have four chairs at the kitchen table. Where is everyone going to sit?" I asked. "Good point. Hold that thought." He called someone and I assumed it was his father based on the conversation, even though I could only hear Iron's side. "Bring a chair with you. We'll need an extra at the table."

He hung up immediately after. "That was rather rude."

"We're family. What's he going to do?"

Yep. Definitely his dad, then. I hadn't thought he'd speak like that to Roe. Even though they'd argued yesterday, I could tell he loved her. If Joon and I could fight like regular siblings, maybe I wouldn't have suffered so much. Instead, I ended up with an evil stepsister and stepmother... and both turned my father into a monster. Unless he'd always been one and I hadn't realized it.

"Do we have enough stuff to feed everyone?" I asked.

"Well, I was going to make it for dinner one night, but it's going to be lunch now. The large package of chicken needs to be cut into small chunks. I'll season it and cook it in a skillet. Think you can help with the veggies and rice?"

"What do I do with them?"

"Slice the peppers and onions into thin strips and sauté them. I got a box of minute rice, so it's quick and easy to make. Once the veggies and chicken are finished, we'll mix them together and serve them over the rice. You're okay with spicy stuff, right?"

I blinked at him. "I love spicy food. Even though my stepmom and Joon wanted to embrace all things American when we moved, my dad would still require us to eat at least one Korean meal a week. My favorite was *Bibim Guksu*, which is a spicy noodle dish." "Was that the only part of your heritage you were able to hold onto?" he asked.

"Pretty much. Although my father clearly held onto the belief a woman's family should arrange a marriage for her. I'd be willing to bet he set up Joon with the mayor's son. He wouldn't want to give up any of his power, even if he does dote on her."

"Whenever we run into them in town, I make no promises to mind my manners. I might very well put my fist through his face."

I'd almost pay to see my father's reaction. Then again, considering Iron's build, he'd probably knock my dad out cold. Now I *really* wanted to see it happen. There'd been plenty of times I wished I could cause him even a fraction of the pain he'd put me through. Others, I'd have given anything for him to treat me the way he treated Joon. It never seemed fair.

"Is it wrong that I kind of want to see you do that?" I asked. "Does it make me a bad daughter, or a bad person?"

"No. It makes you human." He took my hand and laced our fingers together. "It takes more to be a parent than donating DNA. That man may be your biological father, but it doesn't make him a true parent. As much as I butt heads with Marauder, I don't doubt for a second if he'd known about me and Roe when we were kids that he'd have been there as much as he could. He's not the sort to shirk his responsibilities, and he's genuinely wanted a family."

"So I was just dealt a crappy hand? Is that what you're trying to say?" I asked.

"Something like that. But you know what? My family is your family. You gained a sister, a brother-in-law, and a dad. And I can promise any of them would go to hell and back for you because that's what you're supposed to do for your family." He tightened his hold on my hand. "In fact, the entire club would stand behind you. No one will ever mess with you again, Nari. If they do, I promise they'll regret it."

"It's going to take time for me to adjust to all this."

He leaned in to kiss my forehead. "Take all the time you need. I'm going to cut and season the chicken, then stick it back in the fridge until it's time to cook. Why don't you go relax for a bit?"

I nodded, knowing he wasn't trying to get rid of me. If anyone else had shooed me out of the way, I'd have thought I was being a nuisance. He'd already made it clear he liked being with me and spending time together. But I also realized couples needed time to themselves as well.

The idea of meeting the rest of his family terrified me, and yet, I also felt a thrill of excitement. Would I finally get to experience all the love and support Joon had all these years? It was like having one of my dreams come true, even if it wasn't going to be my own family showering me with love. Well, since I was married to Iron, they *were* my family now. I wasn't alone anymore, and I'd never would be again.

The thought filled me with warmth, and I couldn't help but smile a little.

Chapter Seven

Iron

I should have known Marauder wouldn't show up empty-handed, but this was a little much. "I thought I said to bring an extra chair. No one said anything about an entire set of furniture."

He shouldered past me, carrying one end of a table while Pyro had the other side. I saw six chairs in the driveway. What the fuck?

"You're married now. Don't you think you may need more than what you have right now? Consider this my *welcome to the family* present for your wife." He glanced around the living room. "Where is she?"

"Getting ready. She wanted to shower and change before you got here." Although, I'd told her she was fine just as she was, I could understand wanting to make a good impression. I also knew my family didn't give a shit. She could have greeted them in a shirt stained with grease and ripped jeans, and they would have welcomed her just the same.

Roe came in behind them and made herself comfortable on the couch and out of the way. Since my dad and brother-in-law seemed to have everything in hand, I decided to join her.

"Not going to help?" she asked.

"Nope. All I asked for was a chair." I shook my head. They really had gone overboard. "I'd told Nari she could decorate however she wanted. What if she hates that monstrosity?"

"Then Dad will understand." Roe leaned into me. "He's really excited. Try to go easy on him."

"Fine." I put my arm around her, and we watched as Pyro and our dad hauled the old table and chairs out of the house and finished setting up the new one. It was a good thing my kitchen had a large enough space for it. Technically, the area with the table was the breakfast nook. Or at least that's what Roe called it. Seemed awfully big for a "nook." Our dad's house had a formal dining room. At the moment, he didn't use it for much of anything, but now that Roe and I were both married, I had a feeling we'd be having family dinners and holidays at his place.

I heard soft steps coming down the hall and froze. Shit! I looked down at Roe's feet and realized I'd forgotten to remind all of them to take off their shoes.

"I hope she doesn't lose it," I muttered.

"What?"

"Go take off your shoes and quickly get Dad and Pyro to do the same," I said.

Her eyes went wide. "Oh no! I completely forgot you sent out a text about that."

Roe popped up and hurried over to the door. She toed off her flats, then chased after her husband and our dad to get them to do the same. By the time Nari reached the living room, everyone was barefoot or in socks. I tried to get a good look at the floors, wondering if she'd know. Had they tracked in dirt? "You should have told me they were here," she said, her cheeks flushing. "I kept them waiting."

Roe came over and took her hand. "It's good to see you again, Nari. Is my brother treating you okay?"

"Better than I deserve," she mumbled. I lightly smacked her on the ass, then froze. She tensed and paled.

"Fuck. Nari, I'm sorry. It was an immediate reaction to what you said, but you know I wasn't trying to hurt you, right?" I asked. She gave me a quick nod, but the color hadn't returned to her face.

"What's going on?" Pyro asked.

"Nari was abused," Roe said softly. "And my brother is an idiot and forgot for a moment."

Nari looked up at me. "You forgot. So... You treated me the same way you would have even if I'd been normal?"

"You *are* normal. But yes, it's what I would have done in that situation regardless."

Our dad came closer, and he did his best to make himself appear smaller, although it was a lost cause. It was about the same as a tiger pretending to be a house cat. He gave her a smile and slowly held out his hands.

"Can I give my new daughter a hug?" he asked.

"D-Daughter?" she stammered.

He nodded. "You can call me Marauder or Dad. Whatever you're comfortable with. I didn't think my son would ever find someone who could put up with him. If he's ever too much for you to handle or you just need a break, you're welcome to come hide at my house." She laughed a little and moved closer to him, letting him give her a hug. The look he gave me over her head told me how brokenhearted he was about the pain she'd felt from those who should have protected her. When it came to women and kids, he had a soft heart.

"You already met Roe," I said. "The other man is her husband, Pyro."

He cleared his throat. "We're all family. As long as the club isn't around, you can call me Cache."

My eyebrows shot up toward my hairline. What the fuck? I'd thought only my sister would ever be given that privilege. Nari already understood the significance, and it seemed to set her even more at ease.

"I'm still hoping you settle for calling me Dad." Marauder finally released her and took a step back. "You have a present in the kitchen. If you don't like it, I'll take you shopping for a new one."

"That one *is* new," I pointed out.

"It's just money. What good is it if I can't use it to make my children happy?"

Well, fuck me. When he said shit like that, it made it difficult to get angry with him. I was still sore over the fact I'd had a shit life without a dad and a mother who didn't give a fuck about me. Then he'd go and say something like that, and I'd remember how excited he'd been when he found out he had two kids. Yeah, I was an asshole. At least I could admit it.

He took her to the kitchen to show her the table and chairs. We'd finished making lunch right before Nari took her shower, and I'd placed everything in the oven to keep it warm. Might as well eat while we were in here. I took down plates and carried them over to the new table.

"Do you like it?" I asked.

"It's beautiful," she said. "Actually, since it's black, I think I'd like to also paint the cabinets black, and maybe make the walls a light gray or maybe a blue or green. Would that be okay?"

"Of course. We can get some paint samples sometime soon. We'll roll some on the walls and you can decide which one you like best." I leaned to kiss the top of her head, then went back for the silverware and glasses.

By the time everyone sat down to eat, Nari had settled in and seemed to be enjoying herself. She smiled and chatted with her new family, and I found myself watching her intently.

"So, when can I expect grandchildren?" my dad asked.

Nari immediately went silent and glanced my way. I should have warned them to stay off this topic. Damnit.

"Nari was stabbed after she ran away from home. There's no guarantee she can have children." I tapped the table. "And even if she could, it doesn't mean we'd necessarily want any."

My dad stared at the table. "All right. I shouldn't have said something. Please forgive me, Nari."

"Jack said you were happy when you found out you had children. I'd imagine you've been eager to become a grandfather. My home life wasn't the best. I don't remember my mother, and my dad gave me a lot of the scars covering my body. I'm not sure I'd be a good mom, and the thought of having children and being responsible for someone so helpless scares me. I can't even take care of myself."

I reached over and took her hand. "I'm not overly fond of the idea either. But maybe once Roe and Pyro have some kids, we'll change our minds. For now, I just want Nari to get the chance to adjust to living here."

"Your family... are they local?" Dad asked.

"Yes. I heard my stepsister is dating the mayor's son. Her name is Joon. My father adores her and gives her everything she wants." She toyed with her food. "She's part of the reason I left. Sometimes she'd ask him to hurt me, and he would, without any hesitation. All because his precious Joon wanted him to."

"Jesus," Pyro muttered. I heard him grunt and knew Roe must have kicked him.

"I'm probably overstepping, and if so, just tell me." Dad held Nari's gaze. "The two of you may decide you never want children, and that's entirely up to you. I think you should see a doctor so you'll know if it would even be possible. I'd hate for the two of you to try and have a baby only to find out later that you can't."

Nari nodded. "You're right. I'm not sure where to go, or when. The thought of going into town is a little scary. My family doesn't know I'm back."

"Then Iron and I can both go with you. We can even have one or two of our brothers stay nearby in case there's trouble. Only if you're okay with that." Dad gave her a soft smile. "I'd hate to see you upset over something you can't control. Not all women can have children, and there's nothing wrong with adopting if that's what you end up doing. Or it can just be the two of you indefinitely. None of us are going to press you to do something you aren't comfortable with. All right?"

"Thank you... Dad." She said the last bit so softly I wasn't sure anyone heard her, until I noticed my father looked a bit emotional. Yeah, he'd caught that one word, and I knew it hit him hard. He was finally getting the big family he'd always wanted.

"Now, let's eat. Then we can come up with a plan for getting Nari to the doctor's office," he said.

"Everything looks great." Roe dug into her food, humming in appreciation with every bite. "Which one of you cooked this?"

"The meal was Jack's idea, and he cooked the chicken. I only helped with the veggies," Nari said. "I've never had much of a chance to cook, unless it came out of a box. Money was always tight whenever I even had a place to stay. There were times I lived on the streets."

I reached over and took her hand. "You can experiment with recipes as much as you want. Or if you decide you don't like cooking, then don't do it. I have no problem making our meals. My skills are limited. In fact, I looked up the recipe for this not too long ago."

"Have him grill you a steak sometime," Roe said. "My brother is great at grilling. But then I think most men are."

"I'll have to remember that." Nari smiled at her. "This is the nicest family meal I've ever had. At home, everyone ignored me, or found fault with everything I did. It's my first time joining the conversation, or people even caring what I have to say."

"We'll have many more of them," Dad said. "And you're welcome at my house anytime you want."

The rest of the meal went well, and Roe helped me clean up while Nari got to know Dad and Pyro better. She was right, though. This had been one of our better family meals. She wasn't the only one with a dysfunctional family. Although, I could admit to being mostly responsible for the tension in ours. Not anymore. It was time to accept the fact my mother had kept me from my dad. Not once had she ever given me a hint as to who he was. If I needed to blame anyone, it was her.

"I'm sorry," I said to Roe. "For everything. I know I haven't made any of this easy on you and Dad. I've been holding a grudge when neither of you were at fault."

"It's not me you should apologize to," she said. "And you know it."

"Yeah. I'll talk to him. Maybe not right this second, but I'll get it done. I want Nari to have a happy life with the family she's always wanted. If I'm always storming out when Dad's around, or arguing with him, then it's going to put Nari in an awkward position. You saw how easily she accepted him. I can't take that away from her."

"She must be pretty tough. If I'd had to live like that, I'm not sure I'd have made it. Knowing my family hated me would have broken me. Not her. Instead, she ran off on her own and managed to survive. She was lucky to come here and find you." I shook my head. "No, I'm the lucky one. Just give her some time. We're taking things slow, despite the fact we're married, and I think it's going to take a bit for her to welcome random visitors at the house. Even if they're family."

"Come on. We should do the family bonding thing over movies. I know Dad would love it, and I'm sure Nari would too."

She was right. It was exactly the sort of thing my new wife would enjoy, and it was probably something essential for all of us. Now that I was willing to give Dad more of a chance, we needed the opportunity to bond as well. We'd been brothers in the club a long time, and I knew he'd have my back if something bad happened. But it was different letting him in as a parent.

For Nari's sake, I needed to make changes. Maybe for my sake as well.

Chapter Eight

Nari

The past few days had been nice, if a bit stressful. I felt closer to Iron and his family. Every day, his dad came by, and either Roe or Pyro would drop in here and there as well. I could tell they were trying to make me feel welcome, and I appreciated it more than they could ever know. Until now, I hadn't known what it felt like to be part of a family.

"Are you sure about this?" Iron asked, placing his hand on my hip. "There's no rush."

"I can't hide here forever," I said. "Your dad and Roe made the appointment for me. It's better to know than keep wondering. Even if we aren't sure we'll ever want children, this will still impact our lives."

He nodded. "You're right. Birth control or no birth control."

I closed my eyes and leaned into him, knowing he'd made the joke to set me at ease. Although, knowing Iron, he could have been serious as well. If I couldn't have children, we didn't have to worry about an accidental pregnancy. And if I could... Well, I'd discuss it with the doctor once we had results.

"What if you decide you want a baby one day? Not one you adopted, but someone who shares your DNA?" I asked. Honestly, I'd asked him probably a dozen times since I'd first brought it up. "Nari." The warning in his tone was enough to shut me up. Yes, he'd told me countless times he didn't care. It didn't stop me from wondering what would happen if he changed his mind later. People had gotten divorced over less. "All I need is you."

"Sorry. I can't help it."

"I know." He kissed my temple. "In time, you'll learn to trust I mean what I say. It's not right for me to expect it right off, especially after everything you've been through. Now come on. I hear Dad's new SUV in the driveway."

"Did he really buy one because Roe is expecting? He seems really excited about having grandchildren."

"Yes, he did. Although, I think it's partially so he can take you and Roe places as well."

"I wish I could have met you sooner," I said.

He snorted. "You're barely old enough as it is. Too much sooner and you'd have been jailbait. Although, the club still would have helped if you'd asked them. When you ran away, you could have come here and told Titan you were in trouble. Hades Abyss helps women and kids in need all the time."

"I was a little scared of your club back then. I'd heard mixed things. Some whispered you were into illegal stuff, while others said you helped people. I didn't know what to believe."

"Guess we need to work on our image some more." He took my hand and led me outside. He'd been right about his dad arriving. Marauder waved to us from the driver's seat. I'd expected Iron to ride up front next to him, but he slid into the back seat with me.

"And how's our little chick doing this morning?" he asked.

"I'm a person, not a bird," I said.

"Yes, but you're tiny and cute, just like a baby chick."

I couldn't even be upset with him. I actually liked the fact he'd given me a pet name. No one ever had before. Iron held my hand as we rode through the compound and out the gates. It felt like my heart skipped a beat, and not in a good way. Going into town scared me. If we ran into my family, I had no idea what they'd say or how Iron would react. They didn't know I was here. Or at least, I didn't think they did.

The fact my dad had promised me to someone in marriage made me wonder if he'd been keeping tabs on me. The thought of him knowing everything I'd been through and refusing to help infuriated me. What kind of parent did that? Marauder had been kinder to me than anyone in my family. I wished I could have had someone like him in my life before now. Things may have turned out differently.

"Roe didn't want you to think she was overstepping, but when she set up your appointment, she told them a little of what you'd been through. She didn't want them to be shocked by all your scars."

"It's okay." Seeing the doctor wasn't the issue. Although, I might change my mind once I met them.

"I know you're worried about your family," Marauder said. "We won't let anything happen to you, Nari. You'll be safe with us. You know that, right?" "I do. It doesn't stop me from feeling anxious, though. I haven't seen them in years, and I didn't exactly tell them I was coming back to this town." Should I tell them my concern over my father knowing where I was? Or had they already figured it out?

"We'll get your appointment out of the way, and then stop by the diner for something. I'm sure you'll be hungry by then. They have really good pie," Marauder said. "No offense, but you could use some extra pounds. I may buy you two slices."

I knew he meant it in a good way. He was only looking out for me, and he wasn't wrong. I was far too skinny. I'd known it for years, but I couldn't exactly help the fact I'd been starving for such a long time. It wasn't like I'd ever had a lot of weight on me. My family had allowed me the minimum amount of food. Although, it had been better than what I'd been able to eat since I left.

We parked outside the clinic, and I took a breath to steady my nerves. I had no idea what to expect of the visit. How could they tell if I'd be able to have a child?

I fumbled my way through the new patient paperwork, having to ask Iron for things like our address and how we were going to pay. Since I didn't have insurance, he had to give them his credit card. I felt awful when I heard the amount. Why did it have to cost so much? He'd already spent a ton of money on me.

The wait left me feeling antsy, and by the time they called my name, I was ready to forget the entire thing and go home. Instead, Iron prodded me to stand up and follow the nurse. I paused, wondering if he wanted to be part of the visit, then decided against it. Once they saw the marks on my body, I didn't want them giving him rude looks. Even if Roe had explained everything, it didn't mean they would believe her.

"Miss Kaizer, you'll need to undress and put on a gown."

"It's Mrs.," I said.

She blinked and pursed her lips. What the hell was her problem? After she left the room, I changed and climbed onto the table to wait for the doctor. A knock sounded at the door before he came in.

"Hello! My name is Dr. Jackson. I know you were scheduled to see Dr. Lilian Andrews, but she was called out for an emergency." I tensed and wondered if it was too late to leave. I glanced at the door behind the doctor, and he followed my gaze before making a low humming sound. "Would you like me to go get your husband?"

"Please," I murmured. The thought of being alone with a strange man, even if it was a doctor, made me anxious. Logically, I didn't think he'd do anything to me with so many people in the office within shouting distance. It didn't stop the fear that filled me, not after everything I'd been through. The fact I could trust Iron, and now Marauder and Pyro, was a miracle.

He gave a quick nod and hurried out, only to return a minute later with Iron in tow. He came in and took my hand, as we both listened to Dr. Jackson's explanation of what to expect from the visit. Throughout the exam, Iron never let go of me. Even when they took me to another room for an ultrasound. I felt better having him with me, but I still wished the female doctor had been available. I wondered if I could see her the next time I needed to come in.

"Everything looks good from what I can see," Dr. Jackson said. "But there is definitely some scarring on your uterus. I'd like to get a better look, but it's going to require tests at another facility. Are you okay with that?"

"Yes. I just need an answer," I said. "I hate not knowing if it's possible to have children."

Dr. Jackson nodded. "We'll do our best to help you. Someone from our office will call you with a date and time for the next test, and we'll go from there. It was wonderful meeting you both, although I wish it was under better circumstances."

After he left, Iron helped me dress and we checked out at the front desk. Since the ultrasound hadn't been covered in the visit fee, he paid even more money and set up a payment plan for the balance. I wondered how I needed to go about getting health insurance. It wasn't something I'd ever had to deal with before. Something told me the future tests would cost far more, and I didn't know if he could even afford it.

I held Iron's hand tight as we walked down the sidewalk toward the diner. Marauder was a few steps ahead of us, trying to give us a little space. Even though Iron had said he was fine not having children, I wasn't sure if I was. I'd always thought I'd never want a family. With the way I'd grown up, I didn't know how to be a parent to someone. Now that it seemed like I didn't have a choice in the matter, it left me feeling a little hollow.

"We won't know anything for sure until you have more

tests done," Iron said. "He said the ultrasound didn't give him a good enough view of the scarring. After the CT scan, we'll either have an answer or move on to the next thing, which I Googled... it's called a hysteroscopy."

"I feel defective. My father always made it clear a woman's job was to take care of the house and her family, which meant having children. Not being able to do that makes me feel like less of a woman."

Iron drew me to a stop and put his arms around me. "You aren't defective or anything less than perfect. Stop worrying so much, Nari."

"What if all this medical stuff ends up bankrupting you? That visit was so expensive. Even if I looked at getting some sort of insurance, I don't think it would cover those upcoming tests. Doesn't that sort of thing take time to become effective?"

"Hey. None of this is going to empty our bank account. Even if we did start to struggle, I know the club would step in and help us however they could. I have a steady paycheck from the strip club but if I need more money, I can pick up an extra job here and there. The Pres always needs help with something."

We continued down the sidewalk, and I realized Marauder was waiting for us at the entrance of the diner. He held the door open for me, and a server greeted us right away.

"Welcome! Sit anywhere you like. I'll bring menus over in just a moment." The woman smiled and looked a little harried. As I glanced around, I realized she seemed to be the only one helping customers. Marauder chose a booth along the front window. I slid into the nearest side and Iron sat beside me. It didn't take the server long to bring over the menus and some silverware.

"Do you know what you want to drink, or would you like a minute?" she asked.

Both men ordered Dr. Pepper, and I asked for water. She rushed off, stopping at two tables on her way behind the counter. For someone covering the entire floor herself, she seemed to be doing a great job. I hoped whoever was paying for our meal would tip her well. Poor woman looked like she'd been run off her feet.

"Get anything you want," Marauder said. "Just make sure you save room for pie."

He must really love the pie at this place, since he'd brought it up several times. I'd noticed I couldn't eat a full meal, no matter how hungry I felt. Regardless of what I ordered, if he really wanted me to have dessert, I'd have to take leftovers home or waste food. After living on the street, throwing out perfectly good food bothered me.

"You're thinking heavy thoughts again," Iron said. "What's wrong? Nothing on the menu you want to try?"

"It's not that." I explained what worried me, and he shared a look with Marauder. "What?"

"There's a church in town that has a soup kitchen once a week, and they take in donations of clothing for those who are either down on their luck or have chosen to live on the streets. It occurred to me that's not enough," Iron said.

"You were wondering how I managed to survive, weren't you?" I asked.

"Yeah. The thought of you scrounging through a dumpster bothers me. Honestly, I don't give a shit about anyone else in this town except my family and my club. It's knowing you were in trouble with nowhere to go that makes me realize the town needs more things in place for runaway teens at the very least."

I shook my head. "All they would do is have the police haul us back home."

The bell over the door jingled and I noticed Marauder's eyes narrowed. I looked over my shoulder and froze. Joon was here, along with two of her best friends. I hadn't seen her in three years. Nothing seemed to have changed. She still wore expensive clothes, had her hair styled the exact same way, and her makeup was minimal yet perfect. Just like her. Well, if you didn't count her terrible personality.

If it hadn't been for the fact we were the only Korean family in town, I'd have wondered how he recognized her. With a population of fewer than eight thousand people, I only knew of two other Asian families, and both were Chinese. Then again, Joon had always been popular. It probably wasn't his first time seeing her. Everyone greeted her everywhere we went, back before I'd run away.

"Maybe she won't notice I'm here," I mumbled. I wasn't ready for a confrontation with my family. Then again, while her friends were around, and other people were watching, she'd probably be on her best behavior.

"If she causes trouble, let us handle it," Marauder said.

His words set me at ease. With the two of them on my side, I knew Joon wouldn't be able to push me into a corner. If I were really lucky, she'd be too scared of them to even approach me. I could hope, at any rate.

Chapter Nine

Iron

I didn't like how scared Nari became the moment she saw her stepsister. If I could, I'd get up and run that little bitch out of the diner. Sooner or later, she'd have to face her fears. I only wished it had come after she felt more secure with her place in my life. No matter how many times I said I was in this for the long haul and there wouldn't be a divorce, I could tell she didn't necessarily believe me.

My dad watched the girl like a hawk. She passed our table and found a seat in the center of the room. Naturally. From what I'd learned of her, she craved attention. I also saw the second she realized Nari was beside me. Her eyes widened slightly and her lips parted right before I saw a flash of anger cross her face. She schooled her features and smiled, then excused herself from her friends.

"Nari? When did you come back to town?" Joon asked in a syrupy sweet voice that made me want to gag.

"Does it matter?" I asked. Under the table, I felt her grab my thigh. She held onto me like I was her lifeline, and I realized it was exactly how she saw me.

"I wasn't talking to you." Joon's nose wrinkled. "Why is my sister with dirty bikers anyway?"

"They aren't dirty," Nari said in a soft voice. "And what I do has nothing to do with you, Joon. Just pretend I'm not even here." I doubted her sister caught the whispered *you should be good at that*, but I sure the fuck did. My dad did as well, judging from his expression. I'd never seen him so angry before, except for when it came to Roe. Any time my sister was upset or in trouble, my dad lost his shit. He looked to be a few seconds away from exploding out of the booth right now. Looked like he really did think of Nari as his daughter.

"I believe what my wife is trying to say is she'd like you to leave us the fuck alone," I said.

"Wife?" She stared at Nari, then me. "What's that supposed to mean? She's already engaged to someone else."

"Funny. First time Nari heard anything about her engagement was after we were married." All right, not the least bit true, but she didn't have to know that. "How can she be engaged to someone without knowing about it? Seems a bit odd to me."

"I'm telling Dad about this," Joon said. "You just wait. He'll make sure you divorce this guy and come home where you belong."

My dad cleared his throat and glowered at Joon. "I suggest you move the fuck along. You even think of doing anything to my daughter-in-law or my son, and I will make sure you and your family regret ever coming to this town. I think you've hurt her enough already, don't you?"

"I don't know what you're talking about! Nari is a cherished member of my family." Joon gave another fake smile. "We've missed her so much."

"Why? Couldn't find another punching bag?" I asked. "Was it difficult to admit things didn't go your way not because of your older sister, but because you're a rotten human being?"

Ah. There it was. Her true self. Her features contorted and she let out a shriek before trying to rake her nails across my face. I grabbed her wrist about the time my dad stood up. He towered over her, and she shrank away. Or tried to. I wasn't letting the little bitch go.

"You can either return to your table or leave. Don't speak to Nari again, or my son. Do I make myself clear? As for your threats, I'll be sure Titan hears about it. After all, Nari is now part of the Hades Abyss."

Joon paled, and I knew she'd just realized how badly she'd fucked up. Her dad wasn't going to be able to get her out of this one, but I had a feeling they'd try. And once the club knew trouble could be heading our way, they would rally around us, even if Nari hadn't been comfortable enough to meet everyone yet. Looked like our time had run out.

"Can we just go?" Nari asked. "I don't want to stay here with her."

My dad grunted and flagged down the server. "Can we get three slices of apple pie to go? I'm afraid your clientele has spoiled my daughter-in-law's appetite."

The woman eyed Joon. "This one?"

Marauder nodded. "We'll come back some other time."

The woman huffed. "No need. You, get the hell out of my diner."

Joon's jaw dropped. "Excuse me? You're making me leave?"

"Yes. My house, my rules. Now get out of here. You and your friends don't bring in nearly as much profit as their club does. The Hades Abyss are dedicated customers. If they refuse to eat here because of you, then I don't want you here."

Joon and her friends stormed out. I saw the other two girls had turned bright red. Clearly, their friend had caused a problem and they didn't want any part of it. I wondered how much longer they'd keep speaking to Joon.

"Sorry about that," the server — who apparently was also the owner — said. "I just bought this place last month. I have enough trouble keeping the diner staffed. I can't have some spoiled little girl running off my best customers. The pie is on the house today."

She hustled off, checking on her other customers along the way. Nari leaned into me. I put my arm around her, cuddling her close as my dad retook his seat. He stared at the owner of the diner with a thoughtful expression. It seemed I wasn't the only one taken by surprise.

"She's amazing," Nari whispered. "She owns this place and she made Joon leave."

Marauder smiled a little. "I think our Nari has a case of hero worship. Better watch it, boy, she might decide she likes that woman more than she likes you."

"Shut it, old man."

Nari's cheeks flushed. "I won't ever like anyone more than Iron. But I do wish I had half her confidence. I want to be bold and assertive like that one day."

"If that's really what you want, then we'll help you get there," I said. "For the record, I adore you just the way you are. Don't feel like you need to change for anyone other than yourself. I'll support you no matter what."

"Even if I decided to get ten piercings, cover myself in tattoos, and shave my head?" she asked.

My dad nearly hurt himself, he laughed so hard. I couldn't believe she'd even come up with something like that. "Yeah, even then. Although, I may cry over the loss of your hair. I know it wasn't healthy when you first got here, and it will take some time, but I know it's going to be beautiful."

Her cheeks turned even pinker. "I wasn't really going to do all that."

"I know." I kissed her cheek. "Although, I think some tattoos might be sexy on you. And maybe a nose piercing."

She covered her face and shook her head. "I don't see me volunteering for pain any time soon. Or ever."

True enough. Some people needed that shot of pain to cope with everything in their lives. Whether or not she got anything pierced or inked was entirely up to her. I didn't care either way. As long as I had her, that's all that mattered.

The bell jingled again and Joon stepped inside with an older Korean man. Nari's father, I presumed, as well as a police officer. Now what?

"Can I help you?" the owner asked.

"Nora, I hear there's some trouble. This girl says she was threatened by your customers, then you tossed her out," the officer said.

Marauder stood and I held up a hand to stop him. Instead, I slid out of the booth and approached them. If things went sideways, I wanted him to get Nari out of here.

"Officer, I think there's been a misunderstanding," I said. "That girl came over to our table to harass my wife. My dad and I decided we'd just leave instead of dealing with her."

"And I reserved my right to refuse service to anyone I choose and told her to leave. The Hades Abyss are my best customers," Nora said. "Besides, if I were them, I'd be filing assault charges against the girl. She tried to claw this one's face off."

The officer sighed and looked up at the ceiling. I saw the muscle in his jaw tick, and I realized Joon had left out a few things when she went running to her daddy. Maybe the town didn't adore her as much as Nari thought.

"Officer, what Nora said is true. Joon said some stuff I took as a threat to my wife, when I told her she needed to go back to her table or leave, she tried to rake her nails down my face. I caught her wrist before she could make contact." I looked at Nari's father. Yeah. The word "wife" hadn't made him the least bit happy.

"Nari is engaged to someone. A man of good standing in the community," he said.

"Well, I'm afraid you'll have to cancel the engagement she knew nothing about since we're already married." I leaned in closer and lowered my voice. "But if you'd like to discuss it alone, I'd be more than happy. I'd like to have a few words with you about the way you treat your daughter. I bet she could sue your ass for assault and emotional damage. Or don't you want everyone to know you beat her until she was scarred from the neck down?" The officer pinched the bridge of his nose. "Mr. Kwon, I think you haven't been completely honest with me about the situation. This sounds more like a family dispute. As far as the diner, Nora is right. She can ask anyone to leave if she doesn't want to serve them. I suggest you settle this amongst yourselves."

"Oh, I'd be delighted to," I said. I'd settle, all right. I wanted nothing more than to put that fucker in about a dozen graves, because I was going to tear him apart.

"I didn't hear that," the officer muttered before walking out of the diner. It seems he understood me just fine. Nari's dad, on the other hand... the glare he gave me said he thought he still had control of Nari. I'd show him just how wrong he was.

"Mr. Kwon, I'd suggest you and your family stay the fuck away from my wife. We're not getting a divorce. She's not returning to your home. And she sure the hell isn't marrying anyone else. You're more than welcome to push the issue, and I'll be overjoyed to put you in your fucking place. As for the little bitch next to you, I'd prefer to never see her again. If she so much as breathes in my direction, I may decide to teach her a lesson. You know, like the ones you've given Nari most of her life."

He straightened and tipped his chin up. Yeah, the fucker understood me loud and clear. We'd see if he was smart enough to heed my words.

Mr. Kwon left with Joon, and Nora heaved a sigh.

"Sorry about that," she said. "Those two think they own this town, especially since the girl is dating the mayor's son. They've been trouble for a while now." "None of this is your fault. In fact, my wife thinks you're amazing for standing up to them."

"So, she's the other daughter?" Nora asked. "I wondered. Used to see her around town, then one day she vanished. Word on the street was that she went to stay with relatives or go to some fancy boarding school. Guess that wasn't true, huh?"

"Not even a little. She ran away from home because her father was beating her. I'd appreciate it if you could keep an eye on her if you see her around town. Because of those two, she's scared to leave the compound."

"Don't blame her one bit. Those two are evil far as I'm concerned." Nora clapped her hands together. "Now. I'm honored you'd ask me to watch over her, but I think she could use a little pick-me-up right today. You already asked for pie. Does she like milkshakes?"

"I haven't seen her drink one yet. Let me ask."

I went back to the table and sat beside Nari again. "Nora wants to know if you like milkshakes."

"I do, but they make me sick."

"Probably shouldn't drink it, then," I said. "Anything else you want? I think she wants to give you something special for having to face those two monsters."

"Technically, I only spoke to Joon." She smiled. "But I like hearing someone call them monsters."

Nora came over. "What's the verdict?"

"Milkshakes make her sick," I said.

"Well, that's a shame. Whatever meal you order is on

me for today, honey. And I promise this will be a safe space for you from now on. Those two aren't allowed in my diner ever again." Nora placed her hands on her hips. "So what's it to be? Any idea what you're craving? My cook makes amazing chicken and dumplings."

"That sounds good," Nari said. My dad and I ordered burgers and fries, and Nora went to place our order with the cook. The way Nari watched her gave me an idea.

"From the talks we've had, it seems like you feel you don't have anything you're good at, or a way to contribute. Nora appears to need some help. Would you want to try working here part time? Maybe a few hours a week to see if you like it?" I asked. Of course, I had no idea if Nora would actually hire her, but she might.

"I might enjoy that," she said. "Especially if I got to work with Nora. Maybe her bravery would rub off on me."

Nora returned with our drinks, which I hadn't even realized were missing until now. Too much had happened since we entered the diner.

"I heard your conversation," she said. "If you want to help me out, I'd sure appreciate it. You could try serving coffee and wrapping silverware to start. Then work your way up to waiting on customers at tables. We can discuss pay and hours if you decide you want to work here."

"I'll be happy to bring you and stay for the first few times," my dad said. "If Nora doesn't mind me taking up a spot at the bar or one of her tables."

"Not at all," Nora said.

The way Nari lit up, I knew this was the right thing for

her. And as long as someone from the club made sure she got here safely and back home, then I didn't have an issue with it. However, I wanted to deal with the Kwons as soon as possible.

Nora pulled out a pad from her apron and wrote something on it. When she placed it on the table, I saw it was her name and two numbers.

"The top one is the diner number, and the bottom is my cell phone. You can call either one anytime you want. Let me know if you decide to try working here. And even if this is too much for you and you just want a woman to talk to, I'd be happy to take your call. You seem like a sweetheart compared to that rotten sister of yours."

"Stepsister," I corrected. "We appreciate it, Nora."

"Food will out in a few minutes."

She left us alone as she went about her business, and Nari kept staring at the paper with the numbers on it. I folded it and stuck it in my wallet.

"I'll give it to you when we get home. That way you won't lose it between here and the house," I said.

"I meant what I said, little chick. I have no problem coming here with you a few days to see if this is something you want to do. As long as the Pres doesn't have a job lined up for me, then I'm free to do whatever I want," Dad said.

"Thank you. Both of you." She took a deep breath and let it out. "I think I'm ready to meet the club. I can't very well try to come into town to work at a job if I can't even handle being around the men in your club, right?"

I nodded. "I'll text Titan now and let him know."

Nari is ready. Set up a family night.

It only took him a moment to respond. On it.

I had a feeling we'd either get an alert today or tomorrow about a family dinner at the clubhouse. I only hoped Nari was ready for this. Either way, I'd make sure someone always kept an eye on her when she left the compound. I wasn't taking any chances with her safety.

Chapter Ten

Nari

I'd changed my clothes several times. Even with all the new things Iron had bought for me, nothing seemed like the right outfit for meeting the rest of his club. I wanted them to like me. The screen-printed tees were cute and comfortable, but I thought they might make me look childish, especially since I was so flat-chested.

"Stop worrying so much," Iron said. "You're my wife. Titan already knows everything, and so does the VP. Even if it's your first-time meeting everyone, you're already a part of the Hades Abyss."

"I can't help it. I'm not used to being accepted so easily, or anyone actually wanting me around."

"I know." He leaned down and kissed me softly. We hadn't shared a passionate kiss yet. For once, I wondered if I might be ready. "You're beautiful, smart, and sweet. What's not to love, Nari?"

"You make it sound like you love me."

He remained quiet and stared at me. The fact he didn't deny it made me feel... I wasn't sure I could put it into words. Both thrilled and scared? Was there a single word for that type of emotion? Even though I didn't really remember my mother, I was certain she'd loved me. There was a vague memory of being happy before her death. No one had since then. The thought of Iron being in love with me... it was a little overwhelming.

"Have you ever thought about that word?" Iron asked. "Love. There are two types. The first is a deep affection for someone. Right now, I feel that one a lot when it comes to you. The other is the passionate type of love. That one tends to be driven more by sexual desire, and while I sure the hell want you in that way, I think my love for you falls more under the first definition."

For some reason, I thought it was better that way. If you loved someone only because you desired them, wouldn't that type of love eventually fade or go away completely? But a deep affection? That sounded like something long-lasting.

"If that's what the word means, then I love you too. I can't imagine my life without you. Well, I can because I've been there, and it was a cold, dark, miserable existence. I may be unsure of myself rather frequently, but I've never felt more secure or happy in my life."

He hugged me tight. "I'm glad you feel that way with me. Now come on. It's time to meet everyone else. Dad, Roe, and Pyro will all be there."

He led me out to the new SUV we'd found in our driveway one morning. No one would admit to knowing how it got there. Iron said since it was already registered in our names, it was most likely Wizard who had done it. The hacker wasn't saying anything, though. I hadn't driven it yet. The thought of getting behind the wheel terrified me. I hadn't driven a car in three years.

When we reached the clubhouse, I saw a line of vehicles as well as a crap ton of motorcycles. I wondered how many of them had other transportation. Iron had also said the

club had a few trucks they used for hauling stuff and odd jobs. I remembered seeing one of them the day he'd taken me to his house. A Prospect had driven it to deliver my things.

The moment we pushed the doors open, everyone in the clubhouse went silent. I didn't like having so many people stare at me. Iron clasped my hand and led me farther into the large room. A bar ran along one wall, and the opposite side had tables and chairs. Someone had set up two long tables and filled them with food. I saw coolers underneath.

"Everyone, as I'm sure the Pres told you, I have a wife now. This is Nari. She's a little skittish, so go slow and don't mob her," Iron said in a loud voice.

Two women came forward, smiling widely. I'd noticed one had been standing next to the club president. They both looked close to the same age.

"I'm Delilah, and I'm with Titan," she said. "Welcome to the Hades Abyss. I know they can be a bit loud and sometimes scary. It will take some time for you to adjust, but I promise you're in good hands."

"And I'm Phoebe," the other one said. "Titan's daughter."

I looked from her to Delilah and back again. "Um..."

They both broke into laughter. Delilah pointed across the room to some children. "That little boy is mine. His name is Walker. I'm actually younger than Phoebe."

"The other two with Walker are mine. Banner and Ember. I already had them when my dad met Delilah." Phoebe looked over to a man standing near Titan. "And that's Kraken. He's mine." The doors opened behind us, and a tall redheaded man stepped in with a tiny woman next to him. Well, compared to him anyway. She still was taller than me. She gave me a little wave.

"Sorry we're late. I'm MaryAnne. This is Patriot."

"It's nice to meet... everyone," I said.

Iron tugged me over to a table and sat, then pulled me down onto his lap. I hadn't seen Marauder, Roe, or Pyro but they magically appeared and took the other seats. With familiar faces surrounding me, I felt a bit better. I hadn't realized how tense I was until just then.

"I'll get you some food." Marauder stood again. "What do you want, Nari? There's fried chicken, sandwiches, burgers, pulled pork barbeque, beans, chips, and quite a few desserts."

"I'm not sure I could eat much right now," I said. "Maybe a sandwich?"

Iron lightly tapped my hip, letting me know that wasn't enough. He was always pushing me to eat more food. If I hadn't known it came from a good place, I might have been angry with him.

"I'll bring a little of everything and you eat whatever you want," Marauder said. "Once you have a few bites, you may realize you're hungrier than you thought."

"Your family..." MaryAnne stopped and bit her lip. "Um, are you related to Joon Kwon?"

"She's my stepsister." I really hoped the two of them weren't friends. I didn't think it was possible, considering what Joon thought about the men in this club, but stranger things had happened.

"She's mean," MaryAnne said. "No offense."

Iron snorted. Yeah, calling Joon mean didn't begin to cover it. It was almost too nice a word for her.

"I prefer referring to her as a little bitch," Iron said.

"She's part of the reason my father hurt me so much," I said. "She'd tell him I did something like steal her boyfriend, and she'd beg him to punish me. He'd end up nearly beating me to death. And no, I didn't take her boyfriend from her. I didn't want anything to do with him, but if anyone she liked so much as spoke to me in passing, then she'd lose it."

"You're going to make them all pay, right?" MaryAnne asked, directing her question to Iron.

"Oh, yeah. I'm going to make sure the Kwons can't ever hurt her again." Iron kissed the back of my shoulder. I didn't know what he planned to do to them, and I didn't really care. As long as I didn't have to deal with them again, that's all that mattered to me. But I secretly hoped he hurt them as much as they'd hurt me.

Another man walked over, keeping a few feet between us. "I'm Wizard. I know you were listening when I spoke to Iron on the phone before. Thought you might need to put a face with a name."

"Thank you for all the help you've given me," I said. "You didn't have to do all that."

"Yeah, I did. And there are some things we need to discuss. I did more digging on that issue of your surprise engagement. I'll follow the two of you home after this and give you all the details about the deal your dad made with Michael Sanders."

"This is going to piss me off, isn't it?" Iron said.

"Since I'd like to kill the man with my bare hands, and I'm *not* married to his daughter, yeah. You're going to want to tear his head off." Wizard backed up a step. "I'll let someone else have a chance to speak with you. Don't worry, Nari. Nothing bad is going to happen to you."

The rest of the club came by one at a time to introduce themselves. I even got a chance to meet the children. I felt more at ease with them than the adults. Although, watching how gentle everyone was with the little ones was enough to make me feel safe with them.

I ate a little of everything Marauder brought to me, including a piece and a half of pie. By the time I pushed the plates away, I felt so full I thought Iron might have to roll me out the door. Iron tapped my thigh and I stood. With a quick kiss on my cheek, he walked off toward the bar. I wasn't sure what to do at first, then I noticed Marauder and Pyro were going to join him. Roe remained at the table, and MaryAnne came over to join us.

"What's it like living with Iron?" MaryAnne asked. "He seems so cold. Even Patriot said the guy is kind of a jerk."

"Really? He warned me people would say something like that, but I haven't seen that side of him. With me, he's always sweet and protective."

Roe snickered. "I'm the only other person who's experienced what a nice Iron is like. And even with me, he can still be prickly at times. He's completely different with you, Nari, which is a good thing."

"Don't even get me started on different." MaryAnne pointed at Roe. "Do you have any idea what kind of man you married? He was a complete psycho before he fell for you."

"I'm assuming all their names mean something," I said.

"Patriot is ex-military, and probably the most patriotic person here," MaryAnne said.

"Kraken was in the Navy," Phoebe said, coming over to join us. She pulled up a chair, and Delilah took the last empty spot at the table. "I'm going to go with my dad being so tall and big. If it's for any other reason, I really don't want to know."

Delilah's shoulders shook with silent laughter. I had a feeling she thought Titan's name was given to him for another reason, and I was right there with Phoebe and not wanting to know for sure.

"Pyro got his name because he tends to set things on fire," Roe said.

"Do I even want to ask how Marauder got his?" I asked.

"Probably not. None of us have been brave enough," Phoebe said. "If Kraken says that man is crazy and not to piss him off, then I'm going to give him a wide berth if he looks mad. Something tells me if anyone tries to hurt you, Marauder is going to be one step ahead of Iron and doing some damage."

"What about Iron?" MaryAnne asked. "Has he told you how he got his name?" I shook my head. I hadn't even thought to ask. The fact he let me call him Jack, and no one else was allowed to, had been enough for me. While I might be a little curious about the name Iron, it wasn't enough for me to go digging for information on him. If he wanted me to know, he'd tell me.

"Do you like living here so far?" Phoebe asked.

"I think so. I have to admit I haven't really ventured out of the house until yesterday. Going to the diner was nice, until Joon showed up. Nora, the woman who owns it, was really sweet. She said I could try working there part-time to see if I liked it."

"Are you going to give it a try?" Delilah asked.

"I'm not sure. It could be fun, and I'd like to earn some money and feel like I'm not relying on Iron for everything, but the thought of my family catching me away from the compound is rather scary."

"So, wait until Iron and Marauder have that situation sorted out," Phoebe said. "Or you could ask Titan to assign a few guys to keep an eye on you when you venture out."

Roe cleared her throat. "No offense, Phoebe, but that didn't work so well for me. I think she needs to stay behind the fence as much as possible. If they could kidnap her or hurt her in some way, then it sounds too dangerous to me."

"I heard you were kidnapped," I said. "And it happened while the club was watching over you?"

My heart started to race, and I suddenly wanted to go home and hide under the covers. If my father got his hands on me, I knew it wouldn't end well. I didn't even have to hear about the plans he'd made with Michael Sanders. "The men following me and Phoebe got separated from us at a traffic light. By the time they caught up to us, the man who kidnapped me had already snatched me and run. He'd knocked Phoebe out and left her in the parking lot." Roe tipped her head toward Jacob and two children. "That's when I met Jacob. He kept me safe and decided to prospect for the club afterward."

"I met him before. He's big and a little scary, but seemed nice," I said.

"He is." Roe smiled. "That man has a heart of gold. Even when he protected me, he wouldn't hurt anyone. Not even the evil people. He doesn't have a mean bone in his body."

"Which makes him an odd fit for this place," MaryAnne said. "My Patriot is the sweetest man ever. To me. The people who hurt me? He didn't hold back. I know he'd kill someone if it meant I would be safe and not feel scared or threatened."

"In case you were wondering, my brother will be like that with you," Roe said. "I have no idea what he's planned for your family, but I can promise he won't let them off easy. Your father may end up disappearing."

It should bother me, hearing that my husband could take a life so easily. Maybe if I thought he was killing someone innocent it would be different. My father was a rotten bastard. I wanted to be the one to hit him. He'd used a belt and cane on me so many times. The thought of making him suffer the same fate lit a fire inside me.

"Hmm. I know that look," Phoebe said. "Make sure you tell Iron and Marauder you want a piece of your father when they get their hands on him. Otherwise, there won't be anything left when they're done. I get it. Being able to fight back when you know that bastard can't retaliate? Nothing sweeter."

"We've all had hard lives before coming here," MaryAnne said. She rubbed her hands up and down her arms. "I was locked up in a place where I should have been treated well. Instead, the guards abused me. Raped me. And the doctors were in on it. Men terrified me until I met Patriot."

"The man I'd thought was my father sold me to another club," Phoebe said. "A preacher, no less. I never knew Titan was my father. I'd already been here, living with Kraken, when we found out. The other club offered me up to him, hoping to sweeten whatever deal they had going. When Kraken saw Ember, and realized what they'd done to me, he wanted to burn the place to the ground."

Delilah shrugged her shoulder. "I don't have a horror story. My dad was overprotective and my brothers were just as bad. So I left town, came here, and became a web cam girl. Or so I thought."

Phoebe laughed. "Yeah, turns out the only one watching her was my dad. He'd fallen for her right away, even if he couldn't admit it."

"So you aren't alone," Roe said. "All of us are here for you, and so are the guys. You have a new family now. One who will cherish you, love you, and accept you exactly as you are. All right, my sweet sister?"

I nodded, feeling warm inside at her words. "All right."

MaryAnne reached over to take my hand. "I hope we

get to know each other better. I'd like to be friends."

"Same here," Phoebe said.

"Me too." Delilah smiled. "I heard Titan scared you that first night. He won't hurt you, even if he yells. Think of him as a grumpy teddy bear."

"Only she can call him that," Phoebe said.

"If you need anything, want to talk or hang out, you call one of us or all of us. We'll help however we can." Roe stood up. "But for now, I think I want my husband to take me home. I'm getting kicked to death."

I eyed her stomach and wondered what it felt like to be pregnant. The thought of bringing children into this world scared the shit out of me and yet, I was a little awestruck by the fact she had a life growing inside her. I wondered if I'd ever get to experience that. Now that I felt more at ease around these people and like I was making some friends, the idea of starting a family didn't seem quite as far-fetched as it had before. If I had everyone here to help me watch over them, then having children might not be so bad.

I glanced over at Iron and watched him laugh and talk with the other men in the club. He'd said he'd never thought about being a father. I had a feeling he'd be good at it. If the tests came back saying I couldn't carry a baby to term, then I'd take it as a sign I wasn't meant to be a mother. But if I *could* have children... well, I might need to discuss it with Iron again.

Chapter Eleven

Iron

I handed Wizard a beer, then sat next to Nari at our new kitchen table. It was time to find out what the hell her father had been up to. Then I'd decide just how painful I'd make his death. One way or another, I was ending his life. He'd done so much damage to my sweet wife and didn't have even the slightest bit of remorse over it. Men like him didn't deserve to keep breathing.

"What did you find?" I asked.

"What do either of you know about Michael Sanders?" Wizard asked.

"Nothing," Nari said. "Only that he's one of my father's business partners."

"And are you aware of the type of business your father does?"

She shook her head. Why was I getting a bad feeling about this? Wizard was tiptoeing around the issue, which meant it was bad. Really fucking bad. "Just spit it out and stop stalling."

"Your father owns what's pretty much a sweatshop. Not here in town. It's a warehouse in the same area where those assholes took Roe. He's bringing women and children over from Korea, promising them a brighter future, then literally working them to death," Wizard said.

"And this Sanders person is helping?" I asked.

"He helps manage the place. He also has a thing for Asian women." Wizard cleared his throat. "Um, not sure how to say this without freaking out Nari. There's video footage of him coercing the women into having sex. If they still refuse, then..."

"He rapes them," I said. Wizard nodded. Motherfucker! And Nari's father wanted her to marry someone like that? What the fuck was he thinking? No, clearly he didn't give a shit about her, or anyone else. I couldn't understand how he could do something so horrific to women and children.

"Can we help them?" Nari asked softly. "Those women and children? Is there a way to get them out of there?"

"We can, and we will," Wizard said. "Might need some help, but I promise we won't leave them there."

"What about Nari's engagement to Sanders?" I asked. "Why would he do something like that?"

"From what I've been able to find, it looks like Nari's stepmother had the idea for the business. She lured her new husband to America, convinced him this was the best way to earn money, and there was only one pesky issue she needed to deal with. Nari."

I leaned back in my chair. "Because she's Kwon's actual daughter?"

"Yeah. Even if Kwon wrote Nari out of his will, she could contest it. It doesn't look like stepmommy-dearest wants to share anything with Nari. If she marries her off to Sanders, the man will keep Nari in check."

"What about Joon?" Nari asked. "Does she know about any of this?"

"Yes. In fact, she's visited the warehouse a few times. I found camera footage of her. She's even nastier than Sanders. The things I saw... I'll spare you the details. You won't be able to eat for days."

"What the fuck?" What was so awful it even turned Wizard's stomach?

He leaned in to whisper so Nari wouldn't hear. "Kwon keeps the kids there until they're fourteen. Then they disappear. Joon enjoys forcing the thirteen- and fourteen-yearold boys to make her come, but only after she's humiliated them and literally whipped them into submission."

Joon was a year younger than Nari, which meant she was eighteen. How the fuck could she be so twisted already to do something like that? It made me realize she'd known exactly what Kwon had been doing to Nari and probably enjoyed every second of it. Crazy fucking bitch! I hoped the devil had reserved a special place in hell for her, because I'd be sending her his way soon enough.

"What's going on?" Nari asked. "What did Joon do?"

"I'm not telling you. It's really bad, Nari. She abuses the children." Hopefully that would be enough to satisfy her curiosity and she'd leave it alone.

"I don't like the idea of them being there," she said.

"I know, sweetheart. We'll save them. I promise." I reached over and took her hand. "Wizard, why does Sanders want Nari other than her being Asian?"

"As long as neither he nor Nari try to claim money from the Kwons when Mr. Kwon dies, then they'll get to keep fifty percent of the business, and Mrs. Kwon guarantees fresh employees every year for as long as the business is operational and Sanders is married to Nari. Otherwise, he'd have to fight it out in court, which... There really isn't a way for him to do that without the law seeing what sort of place they're running. He'd be screwed out of millions of dollars." Wizard tapped the table with a finger. "And that's the most puzzling part of all, or was. I couldn't figure out what the hell they would make there to earn so much cash. Until I started tracking the male children after they were considered to be no longer useful."

"What happened to them?" I asked.

"Underground fighting. There's a ring one state over. The boys are sold to that place, forced to fight, which is often to the death, and are never seen or heard from again. Boys in good health go for ten thousand each."

"How does that come out to millions?" I asked.

"That's the really twisted part. Rich women who want mixed race children pay a stud fee. When the boys are sixteen and seventeen, they not only have to fight, but if they're proven breeders, then Kwon gets another fifty grand per kid. Took me a while to find it, but not all the boys he brings over go to the warehouse. Some are already fifteen, and he sells them straight to the fighting rings."

"How many?" Nari asked.

"Three per month at first and now he's up to five or six per month," Wizard said. "Mortality is high in that place, so they go through a lot of kids. He's bribed someone not only in Korea and immigration here in the US, but a few other countries as well. Sanders isn't the only one who gets off on forcing himself on women. Kwon whores out the women and girls, and sometimes the boys, to make sure his business runs smoothly."

"I think I'm going to be sick," Nari muttered.

She wasn't the only one. Looked like I'd need to make Sanders disappear too. Four people in a town this size? Especially with one of them dating the mayor's son... this wasn't going to be easy.

"I know what you're thinking," Wizard said. "I'll help you however I can, even if it's laying false trails for them leaving the country. It's been done before. I'm sure we can make it work."

"It's going to take time to plan. I'm not sure we have as much as we thought," I said. "Not if we're going to get those people out of there."

"What about the ones in the fight ring?" Nari asked.

"Not something we can handle." Wizard leaned forward and braced his arms on the table. "I'm not saying we're going to leave them to their fates. I can make some calls, with Titan's permission, and see if some other clubs are willing to step in and clean up that mess."

"Are all the boys Asian?" Nari asked. "My father can't be their only supplier."

"He's not, and yes, they are. Japanese, Chinese, Korean, and Filipino. There may be more, but that's what I was able to track. Why do you ask?"

She licked her lips. "Yakuza. If they have Japanese boys, the Yakuza may step in to handle it. They'll most likely recruit them, but it's better than where they are now, isn't it?"

"And the others? I'm not sure the Yakuza would let

them live," Wizard said.

"The Jo-Pok could get the Korean boys out. I'm not sure if there are any in this country. Is there a way to reach them and find out?" she asked.

"Is that like the Yakuza?" he asked.

"Yes. For the Chinese boys, you'd need to contact the Triad. Unless they're the ones who sold them. This is going to be too much for you, isn't it?" Nari asked.

"Probably, but I know other hackers. If they aren't busy, I can get their help following the trails. Know anything about the Philippines?"

"They have Yakuza there, and quite a few gangs. I'm not sure who would be best to extract the Filipino boys." Nari slumped in her chair. "How could my father do such a thing?"

"Did you find anything on her dad before they moved here?" I asked.

Wizard gave me a sharp look, and I knew he wasn't going to say anything in front of Nari. Which meant I needed to get her out of the room. *Shit*. There wasn't a way to do this without it seeming suspicious.

"I actually have some club business to talk about before I go," Wizard said.

"Nari, I need you to step out of the room. That's the one thing you can't be part of. If anyone says the words 'club business' it means you need to make yourself scarce."

She stood and placed her hand on my shoulder. "I'll go wait for you in the bedroom. There's a show I wanted to watch, so I'll be entertained while you're talking." I lifted her hand and kissed her fingers. "I'll make it quick if at all possible."

Once I heard the bedroom door shut, I eyed Wizard. Did he really have club business or was he just giving me an easy way to make Nari leave? He lifted his finger over his lips as a sign for me to remain quiet. I strained to listen for something, then heard the TV start in the bedroom.

"Had to make sure she wouldn't hear us," he said. "In case you didn't figure it out, I lied. Nari really doesn't need to hear this, though."

"So what was her dad up to before coming to this country?"

"When she said Jo-Pok, it jarred my memory. I'd seen that somewhere and didn't place it until a minute ago. Her mother was the daughter of someone pretty high up in organized crime in Korea, and her dad was your typical thug. I'm not sure why the two got married, but I think he may have killed his wife when their marriage didn't gain him any traction over there."

"What do you know about the stepmom?" I asked.

"She was a prostitute in Korea. Joon's father is listed as someone who died before she was born. It's possible he really was her sperm donor, but I don't think so. I have a feeling she got knocked up and panicked. There are a few years where I couldn't find anything on her. When she popped back up, it looks like she was on the fringes of stuff Kwon was into. I don't have proof, so don't say anything to Nari."

"You think they conspired against her mom," I said. Wizard nodded. It fit what we knew about them so far. The entire family was fucked-up, except my wife. How the hell did I get an angel from that horde of demons?

"So what do we do now?" I asked.

"For now? Nothing. I'm going to talk to Titan, then reach out to the other hackers. Once we have a game plan in place to rescue the women and kids at the warehouse, you can do whatever you want to the others. I'm guessing you'll want a piece of Sanders too."

"Oh, yeah. That fucker is mine. When I think of the things he'd probably do to Nari, I want to tear out his throat."

"She's yours, Iron. No one is taking her from you. I made sure it looked legit. There's no way for them to file for divorce on her behalf."

"What if they paid someone to make it happen?" I asked.

"Hmm. Good point. When I get home, I'll find a way to create a bank error that will tie up their funds for at least a few days. It's the best I can do for now without making them aware something is up."

"I appreciate it."

Wizard finished his beer and put the bottle in the trash. "I'll keep you in the loop as we move forward. Just take care of Nari until then."

"Now *that* I can do without any hardship." I smiled. "She's pretty amazing, isn't she?"

"One of a kind." He shook his head. "All of you go ass over teakettle when you find the one, don't you?"

"Just wait. Your time will come."

Pain flashed in his eyes for a brief moment before he smiled again. "Nah. I think I'm a confirmed bachelor."

I got the feeling there was a story there, one no one knew. Clearly, we didn't know as much about Wizard as we thought. If he wanted to keep something personal a secret, I wouldn't stop him, no matter how curious I felt. Had he already loved someone and lost them? Or was it more of an unrequited thing?

I locked up behind him and went to the bedroom, where I found Nari stretched out on her stomach watching TV. Her feet were crossed at the ankles and she had her chin resting in her hand.

"Is it good?" I asked.

She gave a little yelp and stared at me with wide eyes. "You scared the crap out of me! When did you get in here?"

"Just now." I ran my hand down her thigh. "Is that what you're into? Those pretty boys?"

She narrowed her eyes at me. "Obviously not, because I'm married to a surly biker everyone calls cold. Although he sounds a little jealous right now."

I nearly smiled. It looked like she'd finally figured out her place in my life. Meeting the club had brought her out of her shell a little more, and the discussion with Wizard had been good for her as well, even if she'd heard some awful things. I hadn't seen her quite as animated. Once she'd relaxed at the clubhouse, she'd opened up to the ladies and had a good time.

"You're so beautiful," I murmured. We hadn't had sex yet, even though Bones had called with the all-clear a few days ago. She'd brought it up once, and I'd backed off, knowing she wasn't ready. But now... I thought maybe she was.

Dropping to my knees beside the bed, I kissed her thigh right above the bend of her knee. Her breath caught as I placed another kiss a little higher. She didn't stop me, and the tension in her body felt different from before. This wasn't a fear response. No, my pretty little wife was getting turned on.

"Jack, can we... I mean, are you going to stop and push me away again?" she asked.

"No. If you say you're ready, then I'll believe you. God knows I want you."

She rolled onto her back and held her hands out to me. I lifted myself onto the bed, caging her. My gaze held hers, looking for even the slightest bit of hesitation. When I didn't find any, I lowered my head and gave her the kiss she'd been waiting for. My lips teased hers before I flicked my tongue against the seam, asking for entry. She opened and let me in.

I devoured her, not giving her a chance to catch her breath. Every fucking night I'd dreamed of this. She'd been my wife for a week. Now I'd make her mine in every way possible. I'd show her what it meant to be my wife, to be loved by someone like me... I only hoped she could handle it.

Chapter Twelve

Nari

My heart fluttered and I felt a little dizzy. No one had ever kissed me like this before, and if I'd been standing I knew my knees would have given out. Even as he dominated me, I felt secure with Iron. No matter what he did, I knew he'd never hurt me. Even now, if I told him I was scared, he'd stop and leave the room.

But I didn't want him to. I felt ready and I knew we needed this. I didn't know how he'd been so patient with me. I tugged at his cut, wanting him to take it off. Iron pulled away and shrugged out of the leather, then set it aside. He grabbed the back of his collar and pulled his shirt over his head. I took it from him and tossed it aside.

With a wink, he stood and unfastened his belt. I watched every move as he undressed. Heat pooled inside me, and I squeezed my thighs together. It was the first time I'd desired a man, and I couldn't wait for what would happen next. The others hadn't cared if I enjoyed myself. All Iron had to do was touch me and I went up in flames.

"You sure, Nari?" he asked.

I nodded and sat up on my knees so I could undress. He'd already seen me naked several times. I wasn't sure what to do. Did he want me to lie down again? Should I offer to suck his cock? He'd liked it when I got him off in the shower, but that was all I knew of my husband as far as sex went. "Lie back and put your hands over your head," he said. "And if I do anything you don't like or something that scares you, say something and I'll stop. You have all the power right now, Nari. Understood?"

"I know, Jack. I trust you."

I stretched out and placed my hands over my head like he'd said. He grabbed my legs just above my knees and dragged me to the edge of the bed. Bending my knees toward my chest, he then spread me open. The hunger in his gaze made me want him even more. I'd never felt as beautiful or sexy as I did right now.

He ran a finger over my pussy lips. "I never asked, but do you trim this?"

I knew why he'd asked. While I did have hair there, it wasn't a lot. "No. It's always been like that."

"I like it." He parted the lips and leaned in, dragging his tongue over me. When the tip flicked my clit, my thighs tensed and I nearly saw stars. I'd never realized how sensitive I was right there, since none of the men I'd been with seemed to care I even had a clit. "You still doing okay?"

His tongue flicked against it again, and I bit back a moan. "Less talking, more licking."

He chuckled and proved to me he'd only been playing until then. He brought me close to orgasm multiple times but always backed off at the last second. I felt frustrated, but it also made things more intense.

When Iron sucked my clit into his mouth, I came, screaming out his name. He continued to lick and tease me until I'd come twice more.

"Tonight is all about you," he said.

"It's still too early to be considered night."

Iron winked at me. "I'm only getting started."

Oh, God! I had a feeling I wasn't going to be able to walk by tomorrow. He stood and picked me up, readjusting me how he wanted. Iron stretched out beside me, his hand sneaking between my thighs. He swirled two fingers over my clit before sliding them inside me. As he pumped them in and out, he used his thumb to rub the hard little bud.

I still had my arms over my head, and he leaned in to lick and nip at my breasts. His teeth grazed my nipple and my hips bucked as pleasure shot through me.

"Looks like I found a sensitive spot," he murmured before doing it again. Between the wicked things he was doing with his mouth and his fingers driving me mad, I wasn't sure I'd stay sane for much longer. The man was making me crazy.

I lost track of how many orgasms I had. Everything was so new it was like I was a virgin. When he flipped me onto my stomach and yanked my hips into the air, I gripped the sheets. Iron rubbed his cock against my pussy, bumping my clit with it. After the fourth time, he eased inside me. I felt the burn as he stretched me. I'd never been with someone his size before. While he wasn't overly large, most of the men who'd taken me had dicks that weren't bigger than three or four inches when fully erect. Iron had to be at least six inches.

"You're thinking too much, which means I'm doing something wrong." He hauled me up so my back pressed to his chest. "I'm going to get you all worked up, then you're going to ride my cock until we both come." "Please, Iron! I want that. Want it so much."

He smacked my hip. "I don't want to hear that name on your lips when I'm balls-deep inside you. Who am I, Nari?"

"Jack."

"That's right." He pinched one of my nipples while his other hand teased my clit. It wasn't long before I couldn't sit still. At first, my movements were a little jerky and uncoordinated, but I was soon bouncing on his cock. When I came, I felt the gush of my release. "Fuck, yeah! You have no idea how hot it is you came that hard."

He nipped the side of my neck then kissed my shoulder. I couldn't stop. The feelings coursing through me were addictive and I wanted more. I don't know how he held back, but I came another three times before he wrapped an arm around my waist and put me back on my hands and knees.

Iron took me hard and deep, driving into me like he'd become possessed. His grunts and groans turned me on even more. He slid his hand down between my legs again, and one brush of his fingers was enough to make me come one last time. I heard him muttering.

"Fuck, yes! Feels so damn good. Fucking perfection."

Even after I felt the heat of his cum filling me, he kept thrusting into me. He finally stopped, his breathing ragged and his skin sweaty. Iron kissed my back, then pulled out. Our mingled release ran down my thighs.

"Need to clean up," I murmured.

"Not yet. Let me hold you a few minutes, then we'll go shower."

"Is it supposed to be like this? Because it never has been."

His hold on me tightened. "Only when you find the right person. This was a first for me too. Love you, Nari. You and only you."

"Love you too, Jack."

He held me hostage in his arms, and I heard a soft snore from him a moment later. He dozed for at least twenty minutes before I knew I needed to use the bathroom. I struggled to get free and finally managed. After I relieved my bladder, I started the shower. It must have awakened Iron, because he came up behind me, placing a hand on my waist.

"You could have slept more," I said.

"Showering with you sounds much more fun."

Why did I get the feeling he didn't plan to *only* shower? I couldn't say I was upset about it. Even if I was sore tomorrow, it would be worth it. Being with him was amazing and made me feel normal... wanted. Actually, I felt so many things I couldn't label them all.

I stepped into the shower and under the spray. He joined me, closing the door behind us. Placing my hands on his chest, I felt the steady *thump* of his heart.

"You sure you're okay?" he asked.

"Positive. Just a little overwhelmed, but in a good way."

"Remember, you're in charge. Tell me to stop or ask for more. I'm yours to command."

I smiled and leaned forward, kissing the center of his

chest. "You shouldn't say things like that. The power of you being mine to control may go to my head. What if I ordered you to kill everyone who ever hurt me?"

He stared down at me, his eyes going dark. "Already have plans for your family. You give me names and last known locations, and I'm happy to take care of the others."

"You do realize you just agreed to murder people for me, right?"

His eyebrows arched. "And your point? Nari, I told you I'm not a nice man. Won't be the first time I'm covered in blood."

His words should have scared me. If he'd even once raised his voice at me or lifted a hand to me in anger, I might have been. My father was a monster, yet everyone thought he was an upstanding man. Well, most everyone. It was men like my father I needed to fear. Guys like Iron might appear rough, but no one had been sweeter to me than he had. So no, the thought of him killing the people who'd hurt me wasn't the least bit terrifying.

"Punishing the wicked doesn't make you a bad man, Jack. It makes you a hero."

"I can definitely say no one has called me that before." He cupped my cheek. "Makes it even more special that my wife thinks of me that way. Pretty sure you're the only one, though."

"Aren't I the only one who matters?" *Holy crap. I didn't just say that, did I*?

My heart thumped in my chest, and I realized I felt braver around him than anyone else. Never before would I have dared to say such a thing. The way he smiled told me enough.

"You're so fucking cute sometimes. I'm glad I'm the one who saw you with Titan that first night," he said. "Otherwise, some other lucky bastard would be standing here with you."

I shook my head. "I don't think I'd have trusted anyone else."

I wasn't just saying the words either. I meant them. Whatever it was about Iron, he'd put me at ease from the beginning. Intrigued me unlike any man had before. Somehow, I knew we were meant to be together, even when I doubted my ability to remain by his side. The longer we were together, the more I could picture a life with him. Not only this week or next month, but even further than that.

"When you say things like that, it makes me want you even more. I want to leave a mark on you, show the world you're mine." He grinned. "Guess that makes me a possessive asshole, huh?"

"A little. But I like it." Belonging to Iron felt incredible. No one had wanted me before him. With Iron, I got to experience so many new things... including what it felt like to be cherished.

"Our first shower, you took me by surprise," he said. "Do I get to play this time?"

I nodded, not trusting myself to voice the words. I couldn't think of anything I wanted more right this moment.

He pulled me closer and lowered his head, devouring my lips. I clung to him, not sure my legs would hold me up. It was almost as if he could read my mind when he lifted me. I felt the tile against my back and hooked my legs around his hips. His cock brushed against me, and a shiver raced through me.

Drawing back, he held my gaze as he slowly sank into me. His cock stretched me wide, and I whimpered at the sting of pain. Yeah, it would hurt tomorrow, but I didn't care. At least this was a pain that came with pleasure.

"Who are you, Nari?" he asked, his voice low and rough.

"Your wife."

"That's right. You're mine. *Only* mine. Anyone who tries to take you from me will pay the price."

He pinned me to the wall as he took me fast and hard. I couldn't catch my breath as my nails dug into his shoulders and it felt like every nerve in my body lit up. Iron hit just the right spot inside me, and I came so hard I nearly saw stars. He kept thrusting, claiming me, branding himself on my soul, until I felt the heat of his release.

"Think you can go again?" he asked.

"Maybe in a bit?" I winced as he eased out of me and put me back on my feet. Yeah, that was going to hurt for a day or two. "Or not."

Wait. How the hell was he able to go again so soon? Most men I'd known couldn't get it up for at least an hour, and Iron was older than them. I wasn't about to ask, though. The last thing I wanted to do was offend him.

He smirked. "Sorry."

"You don't look it," I mumbled.

He chuckled and leaned down to kiss me softly. "I am sorry it hurts, but no… I don't regret doing that. In fact, I'd do it all night long if I thought you could handle it."

"I think I'd need to work up to that." Assuming it was something that could be done. Maybe it was our size difference and it would always hurt after one or two times. To me, he was more than blessed in that department, although most would probably call him average.

"Let me wash you, then we can head to bed. I'm sure you're tired."

"A little," I admitted. Was he going to hold me? I'd never known I liked to cuddle until Iron.

His touch was gentle as he cleaned me. After I rinsed, he nudged me out of the shower. I dried off and watched him through the glass. The brisk strokes he used to bathe himself made me wince. If he'd scrubbed me like that, I might have felt like he was taking off a layer of skin.

I dressed in my nightgown and a pair of panties, then climbed into bed to wait for him. Staring up at the ceiling, I couldn't help but wonder about my family. Both my father and Joon had been run out of the diner. Even the officer hadn't seemed inclined to side with them after hearing the story. To them, image was everything. Would they retaliate? Or would they actually be afraid of the Hades Abyss?

"You're thinking awfully hard," Iron said, rubbing a towel over his hair. He tossed it into the bathroom and got into bed beside me, pulling me into his arms.

"Worried what my family will do next," I said.

"Doesn't matter. They can't hurt you anymore, Nari. Want me to prove it?"

"How?" I asked.

He picked up his phone and called someone. After he put the call on speaker, he showed me the screen. *Wizard*.

"If you're calling to give me more work, I'm hanging up," Wizard said the moment the call connected.

"You're on speaker with Nari in the room. She's concerned her family will do something after being tossed out of the diner earlier. Help me reassure her they aren't going to be a problem."

"Um." Wizard cleared his throat. "You sure you want her to know everything?"

"He already offered to kill anyone who's ever hurt me," I said. "Is it worse?"

"Nope. That about sums it up," Wizard said. "In that case, we've managed to put trackers on every vehicle your family owns. In addition, I'm using the cameras around town, as well as the home security system at the Kwon residence to monitor their every move. They won't be able to do anything without me knowing about it."

"Thanks, Wizard. If something happens, let me know. I want this wrapped up as soon as possible," Iron said. "My wife can't relax as long as those people are running loose."

"Not a problem. For now, I'll keep an eye on them, and I'm working on a few other surprises."

"Like what?" I asked.

"You've mentioned their reputation means everything

to them. I'm just going to put a few cracks in it. Enough for people to question the type of family they really are. Should be enough to break up Joon and her fiancé as well."

"Thank you," I said. "Is it wrong I want them to suffer as much as I have all these years?"

"Not at all. Revenge can be the sweetest thing ever," Wizard said. "Let us do the dirty work, but, Nari, if you want to see them one last time, tell Iron. Otherwise, it'll be too late."

The call ended and I sighed. I should have felt horrible, like an evil person for wishing them all dead. But after learning how awful they truly were, I couldn't help but think getting rid of them would make the world a better place. I wasn't the only one they'd wronged.

"The other hackers are working on getting those women and kids to safety," Iron said. "Once we know your family won't be able to make them disappear, then we'll make a move. Just give us a little time."

"I may stay behind the gate until then, if that's all right. I feel like I'd be tempting fate to walk around in the open."

He nodded. "If that's what you want. I'll call the doctor tomorrow and see if he can schedule your next test for a few weeks from now. I'll just tell him something came up we need to take care of first."

"Thank you, Jack. For everything."

"You're my wife, Nari. My family. Besides, if I didn't do at least this much, I'm pretty sure my dad would kick my ass. He seems to really like you."

I smiled and snuggled into him. He was right. My own

father might hate me, but Marauder had decided I was one of his own. His little chick. Even though I'd been to hell and back, I'd finally found the place where I belonged.

Chapter Thirteen

Iron

The time had finally come. I'd been waiting on Church to be called all fucking day! Actually, I'd been waiting for a week. Wizard had wanted to make sure he had enough data to give everyone for this to go smoothly. But things were finally looking up. It seemed as if everything had fallen into place overnight. Nari wanted revenge, and she would have it by nightfall. Even if I didn't know everything going on, Titan wouldn't have called all of us here if it wasn't time to make our move. I'd left Nari at home with Roe and Titan's kids. They'd stopped by just as I was leaving, which made me wonder if Roe had simply wanted to keep Nari company, or if Pyro had told her to go to my house.

Titan banged his fist on the table to get everyone's attention. "As you all know, Iron is married now, and his woman arrived with trouble following her. Nothing we haven't faced before. Wizard has prepared some information for all of us. I'm going to let him take the floor for a bit."

Wizard stood and passed folders to everyone around the table. "That's the bare bones of what we're up against right now. Nari's family is seriously twisted, including her younger stepsister. The goal is to capture the Kwons and take them to a secure location."

Someone let out a whistle as they flipped through the files, and I heard a few others mumbling to themselves. It wasn't the first time the Hades Abyss had taken on something

like that. I didn't know if this particular chapter had, but the Missouri chapter I'd only left this year had taken out the trash plenty of times.

"I'm assuming they won't be leaving in one piece," Stone said.

"We're going to let Iron and Marauder have them," Wizard said. "And I think Nari wants a chance to say her final piece."

"What's the deal with the workers?" Galahad asked. "It says we don't have to worry about them. Did you call another club to get them out? Won't people find it odd this place vanished so fast?"

"Wire and Lavender offered to make the closing look legit and less suspicious. Any funds will be put aside. If Nari wants them, she can have them. Otherwise, they will be used to help women and children in need. As for another club helping... Not exactly." Wizard tossed more papers into the center of the table. "Turns out Nari's mother was wellconnected. As in, her family is part of one of the largest crime organizations in Korea, the Jo-Pok. No idea why Kwon thought it was okay to fuck with them. From what we've pieced together, he likely married Nari's mom as a way to advance his rank in the organization. It didn't work. While I don't have definitive proof, I did make a convincing enough argument that Kwon killed his wife."

"You contacted her family?" Gatsby asked.

"I did. The Yakuza are going to handle anyone who would have fallen under their jurisdiction. It looks like Kwon was stealing kids out from under their noses with the help of a corrupt, lower-ranking member. Something tells me he's already dead, and if I hadn't guaranteed Kwon's death, they would have stolen him from us to make him pay for his transgressions." Wizard sighed. "I can't guarantee they won't groom the boys they save and turn them into Yakuza. Either way, they'll have a fighting chance and go back to their home countries."

"So other organizations are handling the kids. What about the women?" Galahad asked.

"We have two clubs getting them out," Wizard said. "Our only focus is on the Kwons. I've been tracking their every move, and they'll be easy to snatch. But we're going to have to send three teams to handle it."

"What about the asshole she's engaged to?" I asked.

"That one is a special case," Wizard said. "There's someone else who would like to deal with him. When I sent out the call for help, one of the clubs recognized him. The bastard raped and tortured a woman before killing her. Bad news for him is that woman was the baby sister of a club VP. As much as I know you'd like to get your hands on him, I offered him up to them instead."

I nodded, understanding why he'd done it. In fact, I knew whoever the VP was, he would torture the fucker more than I would. He had a debt to settle, and Sanders was going to be begging for someone to end his suffering. Of that I had no doubt, because it's exactly what I was going to do to the Kwons.

"Where are we taking them?" Menace asked.

"The shed."

Enough said. Everyone here knew where he meant.

Getting Nari there would be interesting. I didn't want her to stay and see exactly what we did to her family, but she needed time to tell them to fuck off in her own way. I'd have to see if a Prospect could take her there and bring her home. Dad and I wouldn't be leaving until those pieces of shit were dead.

"Any volunteers for the teams?" Titan asked. "Boomer and I are hanging back. Wizard will also be here to keep an eye on the cameras around town, make sure we can pull this off smoothly."

"I'll go," Menace said. "Never condoned hurting women, but I'll help capture Joon. That girl has earned her spot in hell."

"I'll take Mr. Kwon," Stone said.

"I'll work with Menace." Galahad shoved the file away from him. "Sick bitch deserves whatever she gets."

Patriot lifted a hand and Titan shook his head. "Not you. I understand why you want in on this, but I need you here to help keep an eye on the women. Especially MaryAnne. She'll worry the entire time you're gone."

"Something I don't know?" I whispered to Stone, who was sitting next to me.

"Their daughter, Blaze, is sick. MaryAnne panics if anything happens to that girl. She's their only kid," Stone whispered back.

"Fine." Patriot sighed. "I feel fucking useless, but I get it."

"You know what your woman is like," Titan said. "She's gotten stronger than when she first came here, but if anything happened and you were injured, she'd lose her shit."

"I know," Patriot said.

"I'll go with Stone," Gatsby said.

"Any volunteers for snatching Mrs. Kwon?" Boomer asked.

Smoke and Poison both raised their hands. I hoped two men each would be enough. None of the Kwons seemed like the fighting type. I doubted any of them stood a chance against my brothers, but I'd have felt better if we had more men assigned to each one.

"I'll text each group the location of the Kwon they need to grab, and I'll alert you to any changes. I'm sure you'll want to discuss the best possible way to get them with as little fuss as possible." Wizard pulled out another stack of folders. "These are all the details on each of them, including their schedules and any deviations over the last several days. It should help you narrow down the best time and place to complete your mission."

"What is this, a video game? Mission? Seriously?" Galahad snorted.

"Call it whatever you want," Wizard said.

"Iron and Marauder will be ready and waiting. Once all three Kwons are at the shed, they'll meet you there. Any idea how you're going to handle Nari?" Titan asked.

"I'd like a Prospect or another brother to drive her over. She doesn't need to see what happens once she's gone," I said.

"I'll do it," Bones said. "I think she'll be comfortable

enough to ride in the truck with me."

"Thanks," I said. He was right. Nari should know by now she could trust him. The others... she might need time to not feel so anxious around them. Logically, she knew she was safe with anyone at this table. Emotionally, she was still damaged and traumatized from her past. It would take time for her to heal all the way.

"Then Church is dismissed," Titan said. "Just keep me up to date on what's going on."

I stood and made my way outside to my bike, only to find my dad already waiting for me. Since we'd need to respond when we got the text the Kwons were waiting for us, we'd already decided ahead of time to stick together. Which meant he was heading home with me to spend time with Nari. I'd told her not to overdo it, but I had a feeling she'd made lunch for us. Sandwiches would have been fine. It wasn't like we were picky. Nari kept saying she felt like a bad wife because she didn't really know how to cook, so I'd gotten her a cookbook and she'd tried something new every day.

"Wonder what's on the menu for lunch," Dad said. "What was it she made for dinner last night?"

"Um. I think she said it was some sort of squash pasta." Whatever it had been, it was fucking fantastic. At this rate, I was going to gain a shit ton of weight if I didn't start working out again.

"I'll meet you there," Dad said. "I have a feeling this may take a while."

I nodded, knowing he was right. Each group would need to plan their attack to minimize the risk of getting caught. It would most likely be tonight, if it happened today at all. I did think it was best to snatch them at the same time, or as close to it as possible. If one went missing, the other two would be on alert. But none of it was my call.

Dad pulled into the driveway next to me when we reached the house. Nari opened the side door and waved at us. The scent coming from the kitchen made my mouth water. Walking into the room and seeing the food already on the table was certainly a surprise. I also noticed Roe wasn't anywhere to be seen.

"Did my sister already go home?" I asked.

"She and the kids left about ten minutes ago. Pyro texted when Church was wrapping up, and she wanted to hurry home and figure out what to feed everyone. I offered to make enough for all of us, but she looked a little queasy while I was making our food." She folded her arms over her chest. "Exactly why were Titan's kids with her today, anyway?"

"They slept over last night," Dad said. "Banner really likes Roe, and Phoebe looked like she could use a break. Roe offered to let them camp out in the living room."

"Well, I guess it was good practice for her." Nari shook her head. "Those kids are a bit exhausting, though. I don't think they slowed down for two seconds."

"What did you make? It smells incredible."

"Pork belly with spicy rice cakes. I decided to try making Korean food today. If you don't like it, there are hot dogs in the fridge as a backup."

I kissed her temple. "I'm sure it's amazing. Can't wait to try it."

My dad nodded as he took a seat at the table. "Never really had Korean food. I've ordered Chinese takeout, but this looks different. Smells better."

"You know, if Dad likes this stuff, he'll be over here all the time asking you to make it for him," I said.

"I'm okay with that." Nari smiled. It was good to see her so happy.

I had to admit, her food was incredible. The way my dad ate everything on his plate and looked around for seconds told me we'd be seeing him rather often. Then again, he already stopped by frequently. Nari seemed comfortable with him, and I could tell he loved her. She finally had the support she'd needed all these years. If only I'd been able to meet her a little sooner. The thought of all she'd suffered ate at me.

"You know I still want some names," I said. "And I'm sure Dad does too. Why won't you let us rid of you all your nightmares?"

"Taking care of my family is enough. The others aren't even worth mentioning. None were as bad as my dad," she said.

"If you ever change your mind, you just let us know," Dad said.

* * *

Nari

They hadn't said anything, but I could tell they were going to keep me in the dark as much as possible. Iron hadn't made it a secret they were going to capture my family. I also knew he planned to kill them. So why wasn't he telling me what was happening? I'd asked to confront them one last time. Would he actually let me?

It had been a waiting game all day, and now it was nearly dinner. I wasn't sure about starting anything if it meant we'd have to leave before it was finished cooking. My stomach grumbled at me, and I knew I'd have to figure something out soon. I might have been starving most of my life, but after living with Iron and getting three meals a day, my body now expected to be fed at regular intervals.

"Would it be okay to order pizzas for dinner?" I asked. "We could invite Roe and Pyro over."

Iron and Marauder shared a look before my husband nodded. I saw him pull out his phone and I assumed he was texting his sister. Marauder took his out as well, tapped on the screen a few times, then handed it to me. He'd opened a pizza app and I stared, not quite sure what he wanted me to do.

"Um. What am I ordering?" I asked.

"Get whatever you want," Marauder said.

"But I don't know what everyone else will want." He simply stared at me and pointed at the phone in my hand. I'd learned enough about him to know he wanted me to order something I felt like eating. After I selected a thin crust supreme, I handed the phone back. It took him a few minutes of adding things before the order must have been complete because he put his phone away.

"Did you tell whoever is on the gate to watch for an order?" Iron asked.

"No. Didn't think about it," Marauder said.

"I'll handle it." Iron sent another text, then handed me the TV remote. "Why don't you find us a movie to watch?"

I gripped the plastic controller in my hand. Why did they keep asking me to make decisions about things? Sure, dinner and a movie might not be a huge deal, but it still stressed me out. I always worried I'd choose something everyone hated. Part of me knew they wouldn't complain or care. The other part was still stuck in the past where one wrong move would end with me being in pain for days.

I found a comedy and quickly put the remote down. It wasn't very long before the front door opened and I saw Roe and Pyro come in. They removed their shoes and joined us in the living room. Iron had already had to add a shoe rack to the mat by the front door to have enough room for the entire family's shoes. The men's boots went on top, and my shoes and Roe's went on the bottom shelf. Still not ideal, but it would work for now. I'd have preferred an enclosed porch where everyone could leave their shoes, but I wasn't about to ask Iron to build something like that.

"Everyone okay in here?" Pyro asked. "Still no news?"

"Nothing yet." Iron reached over to take my hand. "Food should be here soon."

Roe sat on the other side of me. "How do you feel right now?"

"I'm not sure. Ready for everything to be over. Does that sound awful? I mean, I've condoned killing my family. What sort of person does that make me?" I asked.

"The kind who's tired of taking their shit," Pyro said. "No one here blames you for wanting them gone, Nari. In fact, every brother in this club is ready to tear them apart. We've got your back, okay?"

I nodded. His words made me feel a little better. I knew murder was wrong, but so were all the awful things my family had done not only to me but other people as well. I didn't think they'd shared all the details yet, but from what I'd gleaned, my family was into some really bad stuff. I'd take horror movie monsters over them any day.

"I'm the good girl out of everyone at the Hades Abyss," Roe said. "For what it's worth, I don't have a problem with your family being punished. If we'd handed everything over to the law, they'd have gotten some prison time and eventually been released, or possibly been deported. I'm not really sure how all that works. What I do know is the Hades Abyss is going to make sure they can't hurt anyone ever again."

Her words calmed me. "Thanks, Roe."

She gave me a one-armed hug. "That's what sisters are for. Put those awful people in your past. You have a real family now."

She was right. Iron hadn't just given me a safe haven, or his love... he'd given me everything I'd ever wanted or needed. Now I just had to face this one last hurdle and then I could move on.

Chapter Fourteen

Iron

It took two days for my brothers to round up the Kwons. When the text came in, I was more than ready to get vengeance for everything they'd done to Nari. While I was pissed about their trafficking and abuse of women and children, the abuse my wife suffered weighed heavier on me. Probably because she was mine. It had taken them time to coordinate their efforts and snatch the Kwons without anyone noticing.

"Nari, are you sure you want to go?" I asked, giving her a chance to back out. As much as I loved that she wanted to face her fears, I also worried seeing them again could cause a setback in her recovery.

"I need to do this," she said.

"Fine. Bones is going to drive you over in a club truck. Once you've asked your questions, yelled, or done whatever you plan to do, then I'll have him bring you home."

She narrowed her eyes at me. "Why am I being sent home?"

"I don't want you to see that side of me. It's not going to be pretty. We're going to make them feel as much pain as possible before we kill them." I ran a hand down my face. "Telling you about it, and having you witness it firsthand, are two different things. The last thing I want is for you to become scared of me when you realize what I'm capable of doing." "Jack, everyone is capable of violence in the right situation. Most choose not to do it. Doesn't mean they can't. And who said you get to make them suffer? Why can't I get some vengeance of my own?" she asked.

"Are you serious right now?" I'd thought she'd want to talk to them, or tell them to fuck off. Not once had I considered the fact she might want to hurt them physically by herself. If it's what she wanted, then I wouldn't get in the way. I only hoped it wouldn't haunt her later.

"Very much so."

"All right. Then you need to do this the right way. You're not dressed properly." I folded my arms over my chest and waited while she rushed off to the bedroom. At least she'd known what I meant, or I hoped she did. Nari returned a few minutes later in jeans, the boots I'd bought for her, a black tee, and her new property cut. I didn't know how Titan managed to get it made so fast, but I'd given it to her last night.

"Better?" she asked.

"Yeah. Now you look like a biker's wife."

She wrinkled her nose. "At least you didn't call me an old lady. I know it's just a term and doesn't mean I'm literally old, but I really don't like it. I much prefer being called your wife."

"Some of the guys don't want to get married. Doesn't stop them from claiming someone. In that case, they can't be called a wife."

"Fine. I see your point. Can we go now?" she asked.

I wondered if I should be concerned that she seemed

too eager. Exactly what did my pint-sized wife have planned for her family? I glanced at my dad, and he gave me a subtle shake of his head. Looked like he didn't know either. Why did I get the feeling I might regret this later?

"Bones is here," Dad said.

"Nari, we're going to head out first and Bones will follow. Take your time when we get there. You don't have to race inside right away. Gather your thoughts and prepare yourself for whatever hateful things they may say."

"It doesn't matter anymore," she said. "They can't hurt me now, and you've shown me what it means to truly be part of a family."

She hurried out to the truck while Dad and I got on our bikes. Bones backed down the driveway, then waited for us to take the lead. The shed was in a remote place on the Hades Abyss property. Far enough away from any other homes or businesses, no matter what happened inside no one would hear us. Of course, Titan had also soundproofed the place as much as he could.

Menace and Stone were both standing guard when we arrived. I gave them each a nod as I got off my bike and went inside. Dad was right behind me.

"You won't get away with this," Mr. Kwon said.

"Why not? You've been getting away with all kinds of things for over a decade. Murdering your wife. Trafficking women and children. Beating your daughter and selling her off to a monster. Should I continue?" I asked.

His expression sobered. Ah. Looked like he hadn't realized we knew so much about him. Good. I hoped he

realized exactly how bad his situation was right now. The two women glared at me and remained silent. Then it was like a mask slid over Joon's face. She smiled, gave me an innocent, wide-eyed look, and even batted her eyes a little.

"Whatever you think I've done, I promise it wasn't me," she said. "I'll even be willing to make it worth your while if you untie me. I'm sure I can please you better than Nari."

Disgusting. I couldn't stand the little bitch. "Sorry. I'm too old for you."

The smile slid off her face. "I'm younger than Nari by only a year. How does that make you too old for me and not for her?"

"Don't you like your men on the more illegal side? You know, like fourteen- and fifteen-year-olds?"

My words hit their mark and she paled. Her gaze dropped to the floor, and she finally realized we had shit on her too. Mrs. Kwon didn't even bother trying to weasel her way out of anything. Made me wonder if we'd missed something in all our digging. She'd been the only one to remain silent. Did she have more to hide than the other two?

The door opened behind me, and Nari came in. Her father immediately started yelling at her in rapid-fire Korean. Nari stopped beside me and tipped her head to the side, staring at him like a confused puppy.

"Sorry, Father. You made sure I don't remember how to speak Korean. I have no idea what you're saying," she said.

"How could you betray your family?" he asked, his voice hard and ice cold.

"Family? I'm sorry. Since when do families beat and starve their daughters? Do they sell them off to monstrous men who rape and kill women? I don't think so. You're not my family. None of you are, and never have been. You made sure of that."

"Nari, are you responsible for this?" Joon asked.

"Mmm. Yes and no."

"Which is it?" Mr. Kwon asked.

"Well, you're technically here because of me. You see, my husband didn't like hearing all the things you've done to me over the years, or why you did them. I'm guessing the reason is Joon and the step-bitch from hell. Oops. I mean stepmom." She smiled at him. "So he decided you needed to be taught a lesson. All of you. Or rather, once he discovered all your crimes, as well as those of the women in the family, he decided to just wipe you out entirely."

Mrs. Kwon glowered but remained silent. Joon snarled and yanked at the ropes binding her to the chair. Only Mr. Kwon dangled from a hook in the ceiling. His toes barely scraped the ground. Wouldn't be long before his shoulders ached, if they didn't already.

"Did anyone get his cane?" Nari asked.

"Yeah. Think it's in the truck," Menace said. I hadn't realized he'd come inside. "I'll get it for you."

He returned quickly and handed the cane to Nari. She approached her father with determined steps. The look in her eyes took me by surprise. I'd never seen her so cold or vicious before. Without even hesitating, she drew back the hand holding the cane, then slammed it against Kwon's ribs. He gave a bark of pain and grimaced.

"You can't even take this as well as I did," Nari said. "I learned early to remain quiet. Don't you remember? Crying or screaming only made the beating worse. Guess I should teach you the same lesson."

We stood back and watched as Nari took all her pain, fear, and frustrations out on her father. She hit him with the cane as hard as she could, repeatedly. The skin over his ribs and knees broke. The way some of his joints were turning black and blue made me think she'd fractured a few bones. None of us tried to stop her. She finally let the cane drop from her hand, her breath sawing in and out of her lungs.

I went to her, placing my hand on her shoulder. "You feel any better?"

She held up her hand, pinching her finger and thumb together. "Tiny bit."

"Then... you tell us what you want to happen to him, and we'll see that it's done. You have my word we'll do everything as you say. You should go home and rest."

She tipped her head back to stare up at me. "I'm not leaving. I'm not some shy, timid woman. Men terrify me because of him and the others I met after I ran away. But it all started with him."

"He killed your mom," Dad said.

"And I'm not your stepsister. I'm your half-sister." Joon smirked. "He loved my mom and only tolerated yours as a way to advance his career."

Nari's eyes filled with unshed tears. "You really did

kill my mom?"

"Not by myself," he muttered, glaring at his wife.

Ah. Yes, it seemed Mrs. Kwon was far from innocent. Of course, I'd already known that. A little more dirt wasn't going to hurt at this point. She already wasn't leaving here alive.

Nari slowly turned her head to stare at her stepmother. I felt every muscle in her body tense. She shook with pure rage as she broke away from me and stalked closer to the woman. After holding her gaze for a few minutes, she glanced over at my dad and nearly ran to him. I didn't realize what she was after until she had his knife in her hand. The blade was nearly the length of her forearm. In her hands, it looked more like a short sword than a hunting knife.

Nari slashed Mrs. Kwon's face with the blade, slicing open both cheeks. Blood ran freely. The woman didn't make a sound.

"You awful, murdering, traitorous bitch! What did my mother ever do to you?" Nari demanded.

"She was in my way. The goal was for her to marry your father, help him gain a higher position in the Jo-Pok, then we'd frame her for cheating and he'd demand a divorce. But your saint of a mother didn't make it easy. So, I befriended her and started slipping poison in her tea."

"You're one of the most despicable people I've ever met." Nari plunged the knife into Mrs. Kwon's abdomen. The woman sputtered and coughed up a little blood. My sweet little wife had fire in her gaze as she yanked the blade free, then stabbed her again. Once she started, she couldn't seem to stop. After the eighth time, Mrs. Kwon's head slumped and she stopped breathing.

"Little chick, she's dead," Dad said.

She handed his knife back to him, and I pulled her into my arms. "Will you please go with Bones now? Take a shower and get into bed. I'll be home once we're done here."

"All right. Be careful." She tipped her face up and I leaned down to kiss her. Once she'd left the building, I shared a look with my dad. Neither of us had expected such a thing from her.

"Are you proud?" my dad asked Mr. Kwon. "You turned that innocent girl into a killer. You and your hell-bitch wife, and your foul younger daughter. All the good traits in Nari must have come from her mother."

"And I'm guessing her viciousness came from her mother's family," I said. I didn't understand anything about the Jo-Pok structure, but I had a feeling Nari's grandparents had been near the top. Possibly still were. I wasn't sure I wanted to meet them.

"Just finish it," Mr. Kwon said. "I already know you aren't going to let us live."

I glanced at Joon then back at him. "She's your favorite right? Your precious little girl who gets whatever she wants?"

He didn't say anything, but I could tell I had his attention. I grabbed a pair of pliers off a nearby table and approached Joon. Gripping her wrist, I used the tool to yank her fingernails off one at a time. She screamed and thrashed, calling me all sorts of names before pleading and offering me anything I wanted. After the last nail came off, I gripped her knuckle with the pliers and tightened them as much as I could while twisting. The joint popped and bulged as the bones broke.

"She liked to hear Nari's scream, didn't she?" I asked, looking over at Mr. Kwon. Tears ran down his cheeks as he stared at Joon. "Is it pretty? Hearing Joon's screams? Did Nari beg as much as this little whore? You heard what she offered. Every man in this club could use her however we wanted, as long as we didn't hurt her anymore."

"Not my style," Menace said. "But... I know some people."

I glanced over at him. "Who the fuck have you been hanging out with other than us?"

He shrugged. "Few gang members I met when I was a kid. They were a bit older than me. Now they're at the top of the food chain."

I focused on Joon again. "What did you have planned for Nari?"

She sneered at me. "Sanders promised to break her in real good. Said he'd shove his cock in all her holes, then let his friends do the same. Once they'd had their fun, he was going to slit her throat and watch her bleed out."

"Did you help him plan it?" I asked.

"Of course. Although I asked for a little special treatment in addition to what he wanted to do." Joon spat on the floor. "He was going to make sure she was torn up inside. It's what he promised me."

"I've met a lot of truly fucked-up people in my life,"

Dad said, "but you are one of a kind. And I don't mean that in a good way."

"I'll make a call," Menace said. "Well, two. I'll need permission from Titan, but everything she planned for Nari can happen to her. Right here."

"Do it," Dad said. "But one of us stays to make sure she's dead when it's over."

"Fine. I'll stand guard outside the door." Menace stepped out as he pulled his phone from his pocket.

I eyed Mr. Kwon. There were so many things I wanted to do to him, but as much as he adored Joon, I knew watching what would happen to her would be a far worse punishment. I took Dad's knife and used it to leave small cuts up and down his legs, over his torso and back, and on the soles of his feet. He bled freely, but not enough for him to bleed out anytime soon. In fact, the bleeding would slow and the wounds would crust over.

Dad picked up a metal bat off the table and went over to Mr. Kwon. He slammed it into both knees, and I knew he'd shattered them on impact. Whatever Nari had done before paled in comparison. The man let out a scream that would have done a horror movie actress proud. Dad continued to beat him with the bat until he hung limp, all the fight drained from him.

"Titan approved it," Menace said as he came back in. "The boys will be here soon. Any special instructions?"

"Just let them torture her the way she'd wanted Sanders to hurt Nari and slit her throat when they're done. As for Mr. Kwon... let him watch," I said. "And then?" Menace eyed the man where he hung from the hook. "We could leave him like that. He'd eventually die. It would give him time to relive those moments until he drew his last breath."

"If someone can stand guard and let me know when he's finally dead, then I'm okay with that. Nari did what she came to do. I promised they would all die. Just help me keep my word to her," I said.

"Consider it done." Menace pointed to the door. "Better go check on her. She probably needs you right about now. Want photo evidence when they're both dead?"

"Sure. Just make sure it's encrypted first. Don't need that shit landing in the wrong hands."

He nodded. "I'll take care of it."

Dad and I went out to our bikes and headed home. As I pulled into my driveway, I realized he'd gone to his own house. I knew he'd want to reassure himself Nari was all right, so I decided to text him after I checked on her.

I found her curled up in our bed, already asleep. Beating her father and killing her stepmother must have worn her out both physically and emotionally. I reached out to smooth her hair back from her face and stopped. Shower first. No. Message Dad first. I snapped a picture of her and sent it to him, letting him know she'd made it home safely. Then I took the hottest shower I could stand. It was the blood that bothered me. Being in the room with those three had me feeling dirtier than ever before. I scrubbed until my skin turned red, then got out and dried off. Sliding into bed next to Nari, I pulled her into my arms and held her as she slept. Nearly four hours later, I received confirmation Joon was dead. If it had been possible to revive her and make her live through it all again, I'd have done it. Two down. One to go. I knew Kwon would take at least another day or three before he'd finally succumb to his wounds and die. Once they'd all been disposed of, it would truly be over for Nari. She had a fresh start without worrying what her family might do to her.

"Sweet dreams, my precious wife," I whispered and kissed the top of her head. "It will all be over soon."

Epilogue

Nari — One Month Later

The final results of my tests were in, and the news wasn't entirely awful. I stared at the paper in my hands and went over the phone call in my head once more. Iron would be home any moment. What would he think about all this? We hadn't really discussed expanding our family since our first week together.

I heard the front door open and rushed to greet him. He flashed me a smile and a wink as he toed off his boots and placed them on the shoe rack.

"Is there a special occasion or are you just super happy to see me today?" he asked.

"It can't be both?" I asked.

"Hit me with it," he said.

"The doctor called. The tests show that I can technically get pregnant, but he said it wouldn't be easy to carry the baby to term. The scarring is really bad and could result in a miscarriage, but if we want to have children, then there's a slim chance we can."

He pulled me into his arms and held me tight. "Would it be dangerous for you?"

"Well, he said there could be some risks, especially if we wait until I'm older. But I think all pregnancies are like that. There's no guarantee everything will go smoothly even with someone who's perfectly healthy." He didn't say anything for several moments, just held me close. No matter how many times he said he didn't care whether or not we could have children, it still felt as if I would be disappointing him if I took the possibility away from him completely. We hadn't been together very long. Even if we did start a family, I thought this would be a little too soon.

"Why aren't you saying anything?" I asked.

"Trying to gather my thoughts for a moment. There's something I want to say but I'm not sure how you'll take it."

"Well, that doesn't sound the least bit ominous," I said with a bit of sarcasm in my tone.

"It's nothing bad. I know you were raised to believe that women had certain roles, such as maintaining the home and having children. It doesn't mean I feel that way. In fact, I was just considering the possibility of getting a vasectomy."

"Wait. What? Why would you do that?"

"You're the most important person to me. If getting pregnant could cause any problems or would most likely end with a miscarriage, then it would be better if you never got pregnant at all. I'm not trying to be an insensitive asshole. And I'm not saying that I never want a family with you."

"Then what exactly are you trying to say?" I asked.

"There are so many kids in the world who need a home. Some might be babies and others might be teenagers. The point is that we don't have to have a child the traditional way. If and when we decide to start a family, we can take in someone who has nowhere else to go and no one to love them. Wouldn't that be better?" "Are you thinking about the children my father brought here illegally and forced to work for him until he sold them?"

He nodded. "Some of the kids aren't able to go back to their countries or their families. A lot of the boys went to criminal organizations who will raise them and turn them into soldiers. Out of the handful who have nowhere to go, Patriot and MaryAnne are going to take in one of them. There's a little boy who was only five years old and doesn't even know his own name. The hackers discovered his family is dead. The only way they were able to find him was through the records your dad kept, and it's possible it was a false lead. Either way, it's all we have to go on. Sending him back to his country isn't in his best interest. He's going to live with them now and be part of their family. So, if we ever decide we want children, then we can give a home to someone like that little boy."

"Why is it taking so long for them to get the little boy?" Where had he been the past month?

"Another club has been keeping him, and any others who weren't taken by the Jo-Pok, Yakuza, or anyone else. He's safe. The Swift Angels is a club full of first responders. Luckily, they're sometimes willing to look the other way when bad guys go missing, as long as they know why. We were lucky they decided to help."

"How can anyone call you cold? You have the biggest heart of anyone I've ever met. I'm so proud to be able to call myself your wife. Every day you say or do something that amazes me."

He shook his head. "I'm not anything special. So don't go putting me on a pedestal. Otherwise, I might fall off."

I went up on my tiptoes to kiss him. I didn't care what

he said, or anyone else, for that matter. To me, Iron was perfect. Yes, he had a darker side and didn't shy away from killing someone he felt deserved it, but he treated me better than anyone ever had. Hearing him talk about the kids who needed homes made me realize he was right. I didn't have to give birth to a baby for it to be ours. If there was a little boy or girl out there who needed someone to love them, then I'd welcome them with open arms.

"Thank you for coming to talk with me that first day," I said. "I have to admit, Titan scared me. I'd only accepted the ride from Crow out of desperation. When he wouldn't drop me off somewhere in town and brought me here, I worried I'd only landed in another bad situation. Then I met you."

"I love you, Nari. You're the best thing that ever happened to me. Even better than finding out I have a sister. Just don't tell Roe I said that."

I smiled and hugged him. "I'll take it to my grave."

"Yeah, well... it better be a long-ass time before you need one. Not sure I can figure out how to survive without you."

"You were doing just fine before we met," I said. Unlike me. My life had been one terrible experience after another. I could genuinely say Iron had improved my life.

"No. I was existing," he said. "Sure, I get along with Roe and I love her. Dad and I have been trying to find our footing around each other. Or rather, I was. He was ready to welcome me as part of his family the moment he heard I was his son. I wasn't quite as happy about it."

"We have the best family ever," I said. "I can't wait to

see Roe's babies."

"Not much longer."

I thought about the things we'd bought for them. Finding out she was having twins had been a surprise for everyone, but I knew if anyone could handle it, it would be Roe. She was going to be the best mother. The way she treated the kids around the compound was enough to show she was meant for motherhood.

"We should tell your dad," I said. "About me not having children. I know he's eager to be a grandpa. Roe's kids will distract him for a bit, but eventually, he'll ask when we're going to have some. Better for him to know now."

"I'll call him in a bit. Right now, I want to shower and change, then you and I are going to have a lazy afternoon and evening. Movies with snacks, and we'll order out for dinner. I don't want anything to distract us from spending time together."

"That sounds wonderful," I said.

"I do have a question. You know Wizard was able to figure out who your grandparents are on your mother's side. Do you want to contact them?"

"Not right now. Part of me is curious about them, and about my mother's life before she died. But at the same time, they're part of the Jo-Pok, and I don't want to invite trouble to our door. I don't know anything about them. They could decide they don't like us being married and try to hurt you or kidnap me."

"I think you're overreacting," he said. "However, it's your decision. I'll tell Wizard to sit on the information for now."

"Wait. Do they already know about me?" I asked. I couldn't remember having ever met them before. Did my mom ever talk to them after she married my dad?

"They do. They weren't aware you'd moved to America. Your father hid you from them. No idea why when he clearly didn't want you in his life, and I know it hurts to hear that but it's the truth. You may have been better off if he'd given you to them."

"No." I reached up to tug on his beard. "If they'd taken me in, then I never would have met you. How could that ever be better? No matter what I suffered, in the end that road led me here. I love you, Jack, and I want to spend the rest of my life with you. All I need is you and our family."

He nodded. "Fair enough. Go pick a movie. I'll be back in ten minutes. Oh, and lock the damn doors. I don't want that precious family you keep mentioning to come barging in."

I smiled as he walked off to go shower. He might act all grumpy as if they were an inconvenience, but I knew secretly he loved having them around. Even his dad. My biker might be cold and surly to other people. He might even scare people around town just by his very presence. They were all idiots. None of them bothered to truly look at him. The man had a heart of gold, and the gentlest touch.

I might have thought I was on the road to hell most of my life, but it turned out I'd found heaven at the end of the path... and I was going to do whatever it took to hang on to my new family and my husband. They'd shown me what love truly was, and what it felt like to be part of something special. Without them, I'd still be lost. Iron hadn't just physically saved me. He'd help heal my heart and my soul. I only wished he realized how amazing he truly was.

Author's Note

Dear Reader,

This one is for you — yes you, the person reading this right now. I appreciate you picking up a copy of *Iron*, and I hope you enjoy the story.

It's my hope you enjoyed Iron's and Nari's story. I know it had some topics that might have been difficult for some of you to read (and for those who love super dark books, this was probably a bit light and fluffy for you). It would mean a lot to me if you had a moment to leave a rating or review at the bookseller of your choice, or over at Goodreads or Bookbub, regardless of whether you loved it or hated it. I do read the reviews on my books because I like to see the differing opinions for each story. What one reader can't stand someone else loves. I always find it fascinating.

I know the Hades Abyss went a step further this time than they normally would. For some of you, that may have been a line you never wanted me to cross. In this particular case, it fit the story and the characters... and it certainly fit the crimes Joon committed. No, I won't always go that dark, but I can't say I never will again. Each book is different. Some, like *Rooster* (Devil's Boneyard MC), are lighter and have a bit of humor thrown in. Others taking a winding road that seems to lead straight to hell. Much as each human on the planet is different, so are the ones who only exist in my stories.

For those who aren't new to my books, you've probably noticed I like writing Asian heroines. There's a reason for that. My grandfather was adopted, and after a DNA test, we discovered his father was Filipino. He'd always been told his birth father was Tahitian. In all fairness, he was born there. My daughter and I have enjoyed learning as much as we can about our Asian heritage, including how to make some Filipino dishes. So, I've been adding more Asian characters to my stories.

Thanks again for picking up a copy of *Iron*! Your support means a lot to me.

Until next time...

Harley

Acknowledgment

Thank you to my Beta readers: Tami, Dawn, Lisa, Jen, and Shelby. I know the schedule is sometimes a bit chaotic and last minute, but thanks for everything! Your feedback really helps. (And I know my editor appreciates you catching my typos before she gets the file.)

Shout out to the Wyldlings group! All of you keep me going, even on the days I just want to curl up and read.

Big thanks to my support team! You guys are awesome and I really appreciate you. I can't begin to tell you how much I appreciate every share, like, or comment.

Crystal, Bryan, and the other staff at Changeling Press who all work together to make each book as polished as possible — thank you!! I couldn't do this without all of you. I'd say you keep me sane, but I think we all know that ship sailed ages ago.

And thanks to all the manga artists/writers who inspired me to write a Korean heroine again. It's been a while, but I really enjoyed writing Nari's story.

Playlist for Iron and Nari

Fantastic Baby by BIGBANG Sorry, Sorry by SUPER JUNIOR No. 1 by BoA Lucifer by SHINee RBB (Really Bad Boy) by Red Velvet Abracadabra by Brown Eyed Girls LOVE DIVE by IVE FEARLESS by LE SSERAFIM Mona Lisa by MBLAQ We Go Up by NCT DREAM Psycho by Red Velvet SOBER by BIGBANG Catallena by Orange Caramel A Lie by B1A4

Harley Wylde

Harley Wylde is an accomplished author known for her captivating MC Romances. With an unwavering commitment to sensual storytelling, Wylde immerses her readers in an exciting world of fierce men and irresistible women. Her works exude passion, danger, and gritty realism while still managing to end on a satisfying note each time.

When not crafting her tales, Wylde spends her time brainstorming new plotlines, indulging in a hot cup of Starbucks, or delving into a good book. She has a particular affinity for supernatural horror literature and movies. Visit Wylde's website to learn more about her works and upcoming events, and don't forget to sign up for her newsletter to receive exclusive discounts and other exciting perks.

Hades Abyss MC Reading Order

The Dixie Reapers MC Series is part of the <u>Bad Boys</u> <u>Multiverse</u>

> A Bad Boy Romance Dixie Reapers MC Devil's Boneyard MC Hades Abyss MC Devil's Fury MC Reckless Kings MC Savage Raptors MC Devoted Guardians MC

Owned by the Mob Bryson Corners Dixie Reapers MC Print Duets Dixie Reapers MC Audio Devil's Boneyard MC Audio

More books by Harley Wylde